6511 cover final:Layout 1 25/06/2010 11:36 Page 1

Annual Report and Accounts
Trust Headquarters
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust
Delta House, Delta Point, Greets Green Road,
West Bromwich, West Midlands B70 9PL
0845 146 1800 | Fax: 0121 612 8090 | enquiries@smhft.nhs.uk
Printed on recycled paper.
Produced by Homer Creative.

April 2009 - March 2010

Annual Report & Accounts: April 2009 - March 2010

Presented to Parliament pursuant to Schedule 7,
paragraph 25 (4) of the National Health Service Act 2006

Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2009/2010

1

Sandwell Mental Health & Social Care NHS Foundation Trust

2

Annual Report & Accounts: April 2009 - March 2010

Contents
Foreword .............................................................4
1.

About Our Trust...................................................6

2.

Governance .......................................................11

3.

Directors’ Report................................................24

4.

Remuneration Report.........................................51

5.

Statement of Accounting
Officer’s Responsibilities.....................................56

6.

Statement on Internal Control ...........................58

7.

Accounts and Associated Notes .........................63

8.

Independent Auditors’ Report............................93

9.

Quality Report ...................................................95

3

Sandwell Mental Health & Social Care NHS Foundation Trust

Foreword from Chairman and Chief Executive
Since our last annual report, we have successfully completed our first year as a Foundation Trust. During
this time we have continued to deliver quality services and also improved our financial performance.
As we said in last year’s report, becoming a Foundation Trust requires us to adopt new ways of working,
to embrace change and to exercise strong budgetary management, while at the same time maintaining
services that are high quality.
This year we have complied with the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance, met the terms of our
authorisation, and achieved all our performance targets including the improvements in our financial plans,
which resulted in an improved financial risk rating for the Trust. It is very pleasing that all these areas have
been achieved in our first year of operation.
This achievement has required great efforts by the whole organisation and in particular our middle
managers, ward and team managers who, together with staff on the ground, have ensured the delivery of
all the aforementioned targets.
The Trust has also made some significant service improvements and developments over the last year. These
fall into three distinct areas:
• Investment in the estate to improve the patient environment
• Expansion of our existing services
• Productivity and quality improvements
Of particular note was the start of the construction of the High Dependency Rehabilitation Unit on the
Heath Lane Hospital site in November 2009. This much needed service will provide specialist long term
rehabilitation to people across the Black Country and is due to open in December 2010. We made
significant investment in other building projects to improve privacy and dignity for patients on Penrose
Ward at Heath Lane Hospital. By remodelling facilities we have created a separate female living area.
In May 2009 we saw the start of the Older Adults Therapy and Recovery Outreach service, again a much
needed service which bridges a gap between inpatient care and maintaining peoples care in the
community.
Our Eating Disorder Service saw significant expansion last year. This multi-disciplinary community team is
now able to support a significant number of adults, and a small number of adolescents, to overcome a
range of eating disorders.
“Banishing stigma and enabling recovery” is our vision and along with the help of our members we relaunched our much improved website in March 2010. Access and advice is a key issue for carers and
people experiencing mental health problems, so the more user friendly website, together with our
revamped Grapevine magazine will, we believe, improve information to help access our services.
This year we focused on three quality and productivity improvement schemes. The Early Intervention
Service undertook a significant internal review, which resulted in much better relations with Primary Care
and Education Services as well as improved access for young people experiencing their first mental health
problems.
The Productive Mental Health Ward programme and Productive Team programme are being rolled out
across the Trust and have already seen significant and measurable improvements to patient care. This
national programme enables staff to find more time to spend with patients by improving the ward
organisation.
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Finally the West Midlands Productivity Improvement and Pathways programme is aimed at building
capacity within NHS Mental Health Providers to improve efficiency and effectiveness, quality and activity
within the service. This work will become increasingly more important as we face significantly reduced
resources available to the NHS.
We have continued to work closely with our stakeholders and partners. We work collaboratively on a
number of fronts, specifically the “Right Care Right Here” project, Older Peoples Mental Health Strategy,
changes to hospital campus services in Learning Disabilities, as well as service redesign work in Primary
Care.
Perhaps the greatest change for a NHS body that has become a Foundation Trust is to work with its
Governors and Members. This has been a great pleasure for the whole organisation and we feel it is one
of the key benefits. We have held two very successful membership events that engaged the public, our
staff, governors, members and users of services through education, fun and information sharing. It is
through this process of community engagement that an understanding of mental ill health and the
removal of the stigma associated with it, will occur.

Looking forward
As we look forward to the new financial year, it is obvious that the Trust and the NHS as a whole will be
facing considerable economic challenges. Not withstanding the financial pressures affecting the whole of
the public sector, we have a number of service developments that are in our plans for 2010 and beyond.
As previously mentioned, the High Dependency Rehabilitation Unit will open in December 2010. Its
significance as a Black Country provision adds to our strategic objective of serving the needs of people
primarily in the Black Country with a range of specialist services.
The other three key areas of development will be the Learning Disability assessment and intensive support
team, an enhancement to psychiatric liaison in general acute hospitals and the improved access to
psychological therapies. All these enhancements are in line with our quality improvement programme and
the need to improve the efficient and effective care not only in our own organisation but also in our
partner trusts and the wider community.
The major area of service developments however, is the potential changes to the Trust due to
“Transforming Community Services”. The organisation has been named as preferred provider by Walsall,
Dudley and Wolverhampton Primary Care Trusts to deliver the specialist Learning Disability service currently
residing in their provider arms. Wolverhampton Primary Care Trust has also named Sandwell Mental
Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust as the provider of choice for all their mental health and
addiction services.
These major developments will significantly change mental health and learning disability services across
the Black Country and offer the opportunity for them to improve. The lack of economies of scale has
meant that for years all the Black Country boroughs have had major gaps in their service provision which
we will now be able to bridge. This development will ultimately deliver more efficient and effective care to
our clients and service users as well as bringing greater opportunities to our staff.
It is therefore with enthusiasm that we look forward to another successful year as a Foundation Trust.

Chairman
Date: 7th June 2010

Chief Executive Officer
Date: 7th June 2010
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1. About Our Trust

Client and Occupational Therapist at Newton House
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1.1 Brief Background
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust is the major provider of mental health
and specialist health learning disabilities services to
people of all ages in Sandwell. These services are
provided at a number of sites in the borough. Services
are also provided in the community and in people’s
homes. The Trust employs just over 1,000 staff,
including psychiatrists, psychologists, mental health
nurses, occupational therapists, family therapists and
social workers, as well as seconded approved social
workers.
In April 1995, the organisation was established as the
Black Country Mental Health NHS Trust and from April
2003 became a Care Trust taking operational
responsibility for the provision of adult mental health
social care previously provided by Sandwell
Metropolitan Borough Council. The organisation’s
name changed to Sandwell Mental Health NHS and
Social Care Trust. At the same time, the management
of Community Learning Disabilities Services moved
from the Trust to Sandwell Metropolitan Borough
Council.
During 2008/09 the Care Trust was successful in its
Foundation Trust application and was authorised as
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust from 1st February 2009.

1.2 Trust Vision and Strategic Objectives
A large-scale 'Vision and Values Event' in September
2007, involving over 100 staff, service users and carers,
established a new bold vision for the organisation as
we moved towards Foundation Trust status:
“Banishing stigma, enabling recovery”.
We are dedicated to banishing stigma and enabling
the recovery of people with mental health issues and
learning disabilities. We will do this by working in
partnership to proactively provide the right services in
the right places at the right times.
This vision was underpinned by a set of strategic
objectives. With the publication of Lord Ara Darzi's
High Quality Care for All (DH, 2008), and New
Horizons: A shared vision for mental health (DH, 2009)
and in light of the National Operating Framework for
2010-11, the Trust has recently refined its strategic
objectives into 5 clear areas which reflect the changing
environment in which the Trust operates. These are:

1. We will bring together a comprehensive range of
specialist mental health and learning disability
services to serve the needs of people primarily
within the Black Country
2. We will provide high quality care
3. We will promote good mental health and social
inclusion
4. We will develop innovative models of care that
promote recovery
5. We will make best use of our resources
We also hold three values that characterise the way
the organisation operates at all levels:

Diversity
We recognise the individual, celebrate the similarities
and embrace the difference.

Learning from each other
We believe that through listening and understanding,
people will take responsibility, feel valued and have
pride in what they do.

Openness
We will be truthful, transparent and trustworthy.
The inter-relationship between the Trust’s vision, values
and strategic objectives are illustrated in Figure 1
overleaf.

1.3 Description and Summary of Service
Areas
The following section provides a description of our
services. We also have more detailed descriptions on
our website www.smhft.nhs.uk.

1.3.1 Adult Services
This service is for people aged 18 to 65. In the service
we have one hospital, one care home, and a number
of different community-based teams. Our Adult
Services support people with both common and severe
mental health difficulties.

In-patient Care
Hallam Street Hospital gives intensive 24-hour inpatient care to people who need more support than
we can give them in the community. To help people
get better, staff at Hallam encourage them to take
control of their own care. Staff help people learn more
about how they can get better, and how they can
manage their own medication and symptoms.
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Figure 1: Vision, Values and Strategic Objectives

Banishing stigma, enabling recovery

n
Our Values
Diversity, Learning from each other, Openness

n
Our Vision
We are dedicated to banishing stigma and enabling the recovery of people with mental
health issues and learning disabilities. We will do this by working in partnership to proactively
provide the right services in the right places at the right times.

n
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Community-based Care
Comprehensive community support is provided by a
number of staff working in multi-disciplinary teams.
Our community teams include the Assertive Outreach
Team, Churchvale Rehabilitation and Recovery Centre,
three Community Mental Health Teams, the Crisis
Resolution and Home Treatment Team, the Early
Intervention Service, the Eating Disorder Service,
Forensic Liaison Team, Mental Health Liaison Team,
two Positive Choices Teams, and three Primary Care
Liaison Teams. These teams all perform different
functions in providing mental health care to the
community.
The teams are made up of various staff including
psychiatrists, community nurses, psychologists,
occupational therapists and social workers.

1.3.2 Older People’s Services
For those aged over 65 in our community we provide a
mix of in-patient and community care. A brief
description of who our in-patient and communitybased teams support can be found below.

In-patient Care
At Edward Street Hospital our staff give 24-hour care
and support to older people with mental health needs
such as dementia, depression, and anxiety.

Community-based Care
As with adult services, comprehensive community
support is provided by a number of staff working in
multi-disciplinary teams. Our community teams include
three Community Teams for Older Adults, a Memory
Disorder Service, a Mental Health Liaison Nursing
Service, a Therapy and Recovery Outreach Service, and
a Therapy and Recovery Unit.

1.3.3 Children and Young People’s Services
This service is for young people up to the age of 16,
and those aged from 16-18 who are in full time
education. Where possible we put pre-school children
(aged 0-4) in touch with health visitors and children’s
centres where they can receive appropriate support.
Our staff work across Sandwell to reach children and
young people who have severe mental health
difficulties.

Community-based Care
Our main service is specialist Child and Adolescent
Mental Health Services (CAMHS). It is for children and
young people who have complex mental health
problems. The service also aims to support the families

of children and young people who have mental health
needs. Specialist CAMHS also run the Deliberate SelfHarm Service. This service can help children and young
people (aged up to 16 or 16-18 if in full-time
education) who enter Sandwell Hospital’s Paediatric
Unit showing signs of deliberate self-harm.
There are also CAMHS staff working in services not
run by our Trust. For instance, there are mental health
workers in Sandwell Integrated Support Service, the
Youth Offending Team, Looked After Children and the
Multi Agency Team Around the Child (MATAC).

1.3.4 Learning Disability Services
This service provides specialist health care to adults
with learning disabilities and additional complex health
needs. These health needs can include autistic
spectrum disorders, mental health difficulties and
behaviour problems.
The service works mainly from a base at Heath Lane
Hospital. A team of specialist health staff from
different professions provide a range of in-patient ,
outpatient and community treatments and
interventions. Specialist healthcare staff work closely
with community nurses and social workers.

Learning Disability In-patient Care
Gerry Simon is a regional low secure service for men
with learning disabilities and complex health needs,
some of whom may have come into contact with the
criminal justice system.
Newton House is a specialist step-down and
rehabilitation service for men with learning disabilities
and complex health needs, many of whom have been
discharged from a secure environment.
Penrose House is a specialist learning disability acute
assessment and treatment service for both men and
women. Separate female facilities are available.

Joint Community-based Services
Sandwell Integrated Support Service, run by Sandwell
Council, is for children and young people (from the
age of 0 to 25) who have profound learning
disabilities. We have a team within the service who can
support children and young people who have mental
health needs.

1.3.5 Drug and Alcohol Services
The Anchor Team is at the heart of our service for
people with drug and alcohol dependency. Drug
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workers, mental health nurses, social workers,
psychiatrists, and psychologists all work together in
this team. The team also works closely with teams in
Sandwell not directly linked to our Trust. These teams
also help people with drug and alcohol dependency.

Our Team of five chaplains, four of whom are parttime, covers the whole Trust. Each member of the
Team is from a different faith or spiritual tradition
including Hindu, Muslim and the Christian
denominations of Church of England, Methodist and
Catholic. Although they come from these different
backgrounds, they are all respectful of the different
faiths and beliefs we encounter.

1.3.6 Carers’ Services
Our Carers’ Team gives carers the chance to have their
own caring, physical, and mental health needs
considered. The team gives support to people caring
for someone aged 18-65, living in or on the
boundaries of Sandwell. The support comes in many
forms, ranging from giving care assessments, to
providing health screening for carers, to organising
social events for carers to meet one another.

1.3.8 Therapy Services

1.3.7 Chaplaincy and Spiritual Care
Our Chaplaincy and Spiritual Care service is for anyone
who is receiving support from one of the teams or
services in the Trust.

We have a number of therapy services in the Trust.
They play a key part in the care and support we
provide to people. We have three counselling teams, a
family therapy team, occupational therapists and
psychologists working across the Trust, and speech
and language therapists and physiotherapists working
with older people and people who have learning
disabilities.

1.4 Key Statistical Data
We serve the Sandwell population of 287,500 (and
also provide some services that cover the wider Black
Country and West Midlands area).

The spiritual part of someone’s life can be an aid
towards recovery and a comfort and strength in times
of stress and anxiety. Ensuring that people can draw
on this spirituality is an essential part of helping
someone towards better well-being. We know not all
people express their spirituality through a particular
faith or religion. With this in mind, we make sure our
support is as much for those who don’t follow a
particular faith or spiritual tradition as it is for those
who do.

The Trust’s turnover was £50.5m and we employed
just over 1,000 staff.
During 2009/10 we delivered 632 completed episodes
of inpatient care, held 16,041 consultant outpatient
appointments in 3,785 clinics, and had 107,020
contacts with people through our community teams.
Table 1 below provides further analysis of our activity
during the year.

Table 1: Activities 2009/10
Adult

Older
Adult

CAMHS

Substance
misuse

Learning
Disability

PCS*

Episodes of
inpatient care

433

180

-

-

18

-

Outpatient
attendances

7845

3746

2185

1206

1059

-

Outpatient clinics

1563

698

773

411

340

-

Community team
contacts

47748

11035

2176

13105

215

32741

*Professional Clinical Services
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2. Governance

Meeting of the Quality Council
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2.1 Assembly of Governors
2.1.1 Composition
The Assembly consists of 37 Governors of which 21
are elected by public members, 6 are elected by staff
members and 10 appointed by recognised partner
organisations of the Trust.

2.1.2 Tenure and attendance
Table 2 opposite shows the Governors in situ during
2009/10, their tenure, the date they became or
ceased to be a Governor, and a record of their
attendance at general meetings of the Assembly.

2.1.3 Register of Governors Interests
Governors are required to adhere to the Code of
Conduct as approved by the Board of Directors, and
are required to declare any interests that may
compromise their objectivity in fulfilling their duties.
A copy of the current register is published on the
Trust website, www.smhft.nhs.uk or can be obtained
by application to the Trust Secretary, Sandwell Mental
Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust, Delta
House, Greets Green Road, West Bromwich, West
Midlands, B70 9PL.

2.1.4 Vice Chair of the Assembly (Lead
Governor)
Mr Mark Sturgeon (Public – Rowley Regis) was
unanimously voted into the role of Vice Chair of the
Assembly at the general meeting in May 2009. The
role of Vice Chair is identical to that of Lead
Governor, as described by Monitor, the Independent
Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.

2.1.5 Elections to the Assembly
There have been several elections held during the
year, details of which are shown in Table 1 below.
Governors’ seats that were elected on an
uncontested basis during the year included Public
Wolverhampton and Public Walsall.

2.1.6 Role of the Assembly of Governors
The statutory duties to be undertaken by the
Assembly of Governors are:
• the appointment or dismissal of the Chairman and
other Non Executive Directors
• the determination of the remuneration and terms
and conditions of the Chairman and Non Executive
Directors
• the approval of the appointment of the Chief
Executive Officer
• the appointment or removal of the Auditor to the
Trust
• to receive and consider the Annual Report and
Accounts
• to review the Annual Plan, as presented by the
Board of Directors
In addition to its statutory duties, the Assembly also
oversees the implementation of the membership
development strategy
The Assembly has held six general meetings during
the year and in addition to undertaking its statutory
duties, the Assembly has received regular reports
from the Board of Directors concerning:
• the operational performance of the Trust
• the development of the Quality Strategy and
formation of the associated Quality Council
• decisions of the Board of Directors
• the membership of both the Trust and the
Assembly itself

Table 1: Elections to the Assembly of Governors 2009/10

12

Date
of Election

Constituency
& Class

Number of
Eligible voters

Turnout
(%)

13 May 2009

Public – Smethwick

387

24.0

13 May 2009

Public – Oldbury

278

19.4

13 May 2009

Public – Wednesbury

237

20.3

1 July 2009

Public – West Bromwich

588

20.7

5 August 2009

Staff – Professional/Clinical

117

27.4
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Table 2 (continued overleaf)
GOVERNOR &
CONSTITUENCY

DATE ELECTED/
APPOINTED

DATE
CEASED

AREA, CLASS,
OR ORGANISATION
(number of seats)

CURRENT
TENURE
(years)

ATTENDANCE
AT GENERAL
MEETING
(actual/
possible)

Oldbury (3)

3

5/6

N/A

0/0

PUBLIC
Geoffrey PARKES

3/11/08

Karl TOMPKINS

3/11/08

Dick MARSH

13/5/09

3

4/6

Derek WATLING

1/7/09 (Note 1)

3

4/5

Manjit KOONER

3/11/08

3

4/6

Liam WHEAL

13/5/09

3

2/6

Ceri Michelle
HORSHAN

3/11/08

N/A

0/1

Rani KAUR

1/7/09 (Note 1)

3

3/6

David BOAZ

4/12/08

3

6/6

Ahmadul HAQUE

4/12/08

3

6/6

Margaret
Ann Naylor

3/11/08

3

1/6

Elaine GILES

13/5/09

3

3/6

Garry David
BEDFORD

3/11/08

3

4/6

Mark STURGEON

3/11/08

3

4/6

Mary HAYCOCK

3/11/08

2

4/6

Gaynor
EDWARDS

4/12/08

3

6/6

Pam JACKSON

1/7/09

N/A

0/3

Harjinder Singh
JHEET

4/12/08

2

3/6

Charlotte
STEPHENSON
Bob TIDMARSH

4/12/08

N/A

0/1

1/7/2009

3

3/5

Gwen BROOKES

3/11/2008

Dudley (1)

N/A

1/5

Doreen TILL

8/6/2009

Walsall (1)

3

3/5

Barbara
MERCADO

7/4/09

Wolverhampton (1)

3

4/6

Thomas SCOTT

4/12/08

Birmingham &
Wider WMids (1)

3

4/6

13/5/09

Smethwick (3)
5/6/09

Tipton (2)
Wednesbury (2)

Rowley Regis (3)

West Bromwich (4)
17/2/10

14/5/09

17/3/10
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GOVERNOR &
CONSTITUENCY

DATE ELECTED/
APPOINTED

DATE
CEASED

AREA, CLASS,
OR ORGANISATION
(number of seats)

CURRENT
TENURE
(years)

ATTENDANCE
AT GENERAL
MEETING
(actual/
possible)

STAFF
Imthiaz HOOSEN

3/11/08

Medical (1)

3

2/6

Phil COLE

4/12/08

Nursing (1)

3

6/6

John Anthony
FARNELL

3/11/08

Social Care (1)

3

5/6

Michelle O’SHEA

4/12/08

Geraldine
McGHIE

4/8/09

Martin BROWN

3/11/08

Maurice WESTON 4/12/08

31/5/09

11/3/10

Professional Clinical (1) N/A

1/1

3

4/4

Administrative/
Management (1)

3

4/6

Support (1)

N/A

2/5

Sandwell MBC (2)

3

4/6

3

2/5

N/A

0/0

3

4/5

3

4/6

N/A

2/5

PARTNER
Councillor Joy
EDIS

28/4/09

Councillor
Yvonne DAVIES

19/5/09

Dr John
MIDDLETON

18/12/08

15/5/09

Sandwell PCT (1)

Dr Ishraga AWAD 15/5/09
Debbie TALBOT

6/11/08

Glynn K JONES

1/11/08

Jayne LEESON

Carol McAULEY
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Sandwell & West
B’ham Hospitals
NHS Trust (1)
3/3/08

28/10/08

11/8/09

Sandwell’s Service
User Ref. Group (1)

Sandwell’s
Changing our
Lives Organisation (1) 3

3/6

Sandwell’s
Children’s Trust (1)

3

1/4

3

3/6

3

2/6

N/A

0/0

3

4/6

Pauline
HODGETTS

19/11/08

Sandwell’s
Agewell Group (1)

Alan A VERNON

9/10/08

Sandwell “CARES”
Organisation (1)

Rev’d P E
NICHOLSON

19/11/08

Rev’d Andrew
SMITH

23/4/09

20/4/09

Sandwell Multi
Faith Network (1)
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Furthermore, the Assembly has been fully involved
with the Board of Directors in the development and
review of the Annual Plan of the Trust.
The Chairman plays a significant role in ensuring a
sound and open working relationship between the
Assembly and the Board of Directors, and the Senior
Independent Director also attends meetings of the
Assembly, and is accessible to Governors should
circumstances arise.

2.2 The Board of Directors
2.2.1 Composition
The Board of Directors comprises the Non Executive
Chairman, six Non Executive Directors and six
Executive Directors, one of whom is the Chief
Executive Officer.
The Chairman leads the Board of Directors in its
primary duties of:
•
•
•
•

ensuring compliance with its terms of authorisation
setting the strategic direction of the Trust
ensuring the quality and safety of its services
ensuring services are provided in an effective,
efficient and economical manner

Executive Directors
Karen Dowman –
Chief Executive
Karen has been Chief Executive of
Sandwell Mental Health and Social
Care NHS Foundation Trust and its
predecessor organisations since
1995. She has wide experience of service redesign,
change management and partnership working,
including leading the creation of one of only five
Care Trusts in the country. She has worked in mental
health services since 1992, with previous experience
in priority services and the acute sector. Karen’s
professional interests include developing health
partnerships both locally and across the West
Midlands and developing policy with the NHS
Confederation Mental Health Foundation Trust
Network. Karen has an MSc in Public Sector
Management and a Diploma in Health Service
Management.

Paul Stefanoski –
Director of Resources and
Deputy Chief Executive
Paul has been Director of Finance at
the Trust since 2001. He has been
Deputy Chief Executive since 2006
and his portfolio has expanded since then to include:
IM&T, Estates and Facilities, Information Governance
and Health records. He has over 15 years experience
working in mental health services. Paul has significant
experience in finance systems implementation, major
service reconfigurations and organisational mergers.
Paul’s professional interests include making financial
information more accessible to clinicians and
developing finance staff to be full members of
management teams. He is also a member of the West
Midlands Steering Group looking at Payment by
Results for mental health. Paul is a qualified
accountant (CPFA) and holds a BA (Hons) in
Accounting and Finance.

Richard Taylor –
Director of Service Delivery
Richard has been a Registered Mental
Health Nurse since 1983 and has over
twenty years experience in direct
clinical practice, during which he has
worked in a range of community and hospital
settings. He spent three years as Deputy Director of
Nursing for the Oxfordshire Mental Healthcare NHS
Trust working on nursing, practice development and
clinical governance agendas prior to taking up post in
Sandwell in 2005. Richard’s professional interest lies
in delivering the best value for service users through
efficient, high quality services. Richard has an MPhil
in Healthcare Studies.

John Campbell – Director of
Strategic Planning, Business
Development and Partnership
John has nearly 20 years experience of
working in a range of healthcare
organisations covering learning
disabilities; community services; primary care; maternity
and acute services. He has operated at Board Director
level for the past 6 years and has particular experience
of managing large-scale organisational change and of
developing business cases for significant service
developments. John’s professional interests include
strengthening clinical engagement in service
developments and championing diversity issues. John
has an MSc in Healthcare Policy and Management, and
a Professional Diploma in Marketing (CIM).
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Dr Stephen Edwards –
Medical Director
Stephen has 25 years experience in the
NHS as a Consultant Psychiatrist in
Sandwell, specialising in Psychiatry of
Old Age. He has been Medical Director
for the past 15 years since the inception of the Trust.
Stephen’s professional interests include the education
and training of junior doctors and the development of
Mental Health services in the West Midland Region.
Stephen received his MBchB in 1977 and is also a
fellow of the Royal College of Psychiatrists (FRCPsych).

Andy Green – Director of
Corporate Governance and Trust
Secretary
Andy has extensive experience within
the wider NHS. He has been Deputy
Director of Finance and Information at
the Trust for 6 years, and has had Board level
responsibility for operational service delivery and
corporate support and governance functions for 9
years. As an Executive Director for the past 7 years
Andy has led and influenced both strategic direction
and organisational development across varying
functions. Under NHS Foundation Status he has been
the Trust (Company) Secretary. Andy’s professional
interests include the ongoing engagement with Trust
members and stakeholders to deliver high quality
services and improve local accountability. Andy holds an
MBA (Health Executive) and is a Member of the
Association of Accounting Technicians (MAAT).

Non-executive Directors
Bob Piper – Chairman
Bob has been Chairman of the Trust
since 2004 and has ensured a strong
unitary board and robust governance
processes. As chairman of the Trust,
Bob leads both the Board of Directors
and Assembly of Governors. Bob has been an elected
councillor for Sandwell since May 1999 and has over
25 years experience in local government. Bob holds a
BA (Hons) in Politics.
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Bryan Stock
Bryan was appointed to the Board in
March 2008. He is Deputy Chairman of
the Trust, Chairman of the Audit
Committee, a member of
Remuneration Committee, and a
member of Hospital Managers Committee. Bryan has
served as a main board director on several quoted and
private companies and has extensive experience in
arranging the financial structures of large businesses.
He has a BSc in Economics and is qualified as a
chartered accountant (FCA).

Anita Gosain
Anita joined the Trust in 2003. She has
been a self-employed Business
Consultant specializing in business
start-ups and lecturing in business
studies at local colleges. She is a
supervisory member of Credit Union and has
experience of managing complex revenue projects.
Anita has a particular interest in the provision of good
learning disability services. She is a qualified accountant
(ACCA) and also holds a PG Diploma in Marketing and
a Certificate in Education (Further Education).

Jackie Smart
Jackie was appointed to the board in
2005, with a specific remit of service
user representation. As a mental health
service user for 6 years she was
instrumental in establishing the Service
User Reference Group, and was the Secretary of the
Group. Jackie is also a service user development officer
for the Mental Health Research Network. She joined
the police in 1983 and retired as a Detective Constable
in 2002. In the police she worked as a Home Office
Large Major Enquiry System Manager, completing
complex investigations.

Vicky Harris
Vicky has over 10 years experience of
working in mental health and disability
services, in both the statutory and
voluntary sector. She has been a NonExecutive Director for the last 5 years
and is now Chair of the Quality Assurance Committee.
Vicky currently manages a range of health and social
care services which support people with severe and
enduring mental health problems in their recovery
process. Vicky has a BSc (Hons) in Psychology.
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Paul Riley
Paul was appointed in 2007 and is
currently chair of the Finance
Committee. Paul is also the Senior
Independent Director. He has spent
most of his career in commercial roles
for large private and independent sector
organisations. Paul’s interests are business strategy
development, commercial strategies and estates
strategies. Paul holds the following qualifications:
BEng (Hons) Chemical Engineering, European Quality
Management, Business Excellence Model

Parmjit Sahota
Parmjit was appointed in March 2010.
Parmjit has worked for Sandwell
Metropolitan Borough Council since
1999 and has good experience of
strategy development work including
the delivery of community and economic
regeneration projects. He is currently a
Neighbourhood Manager, working closely with
council departments and partner agencies to improve
service delivery. Previously, Parmjit held retail
management positions with national retailers and
within the family business. Parmjit holds a Business
Management degree and a postgraduate Diploma in
Marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketing,
he also holds full membership of the Chartered
Institute of Marketing (M.C.I.M.)

2.2.2 Role and Independence of Non
Executive Directors
In addition to their role as board members, Non
Executive Directors also undertake the duties of
Hospital Managers in accordance with the Mental
Health Act 1983.
The Board of Directors considers that all its Non
Executive Directors are independent in character and
judgment and have no relationships which may affect
their judgment.

The Chairman has declared his role as a Councillor
for Sandwell MBC and Chair of the Sandwell MBC
Performance Management Scrutiny Committee, but
has no other significant interests.
A full register of Directors’ interests is published on
the Trust’s website, www.smhft.nhs.uk, or may be
obtained on application to the Trust Secretary
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care Foundation
Trust, Headquarters, Delta House, Greets Green Road,
West Bromwich, West Midlands, B70 9PL.

2.2.4 Meetings of the Board of Directors
Public meetings of the Board of Directors are held on
a regular basis. The Board also meets in private as it
considers necessary. Board meetings are
supplemented by planning and development sessions
during the year. Table 4 below provides a record of
each Director’s attendance at Board meetings during
the year together with the term of office of the
Chairman and Non Executive Directors and the notice
period of the Executive Directors.

2.2.5 Evaluation of the Board and its Sub
Committees
During the year, the Assembly of Governors approved
a new process for the individual appraisal of the
Chairman and Non Executive Directors of the Trust,
the former led by the Senior Independent Director,
and the latter by the Chairman.
It is intended that this process, and the outcomes of
each appraisal, inform a review of the existing Board
development programme. This review shall be
conducted with independent support and advice.
The Audit Committee has undertaken a self
assessment of its performance using the checklist
issued by the National Audit Office, and has agreed
actions for areas requiring improvement.

2.2.3 Register of Directors Interests
The Directors are required to adhere to a Code of
Conduct, built on the Nolan principles of conduct in
public life, which includes a requirement to declare
any interests they feel may compromise their
objectivity in fulfilling their duties.
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Table 3: The Board Of Directors
Name

Role

Term of Office/
Notice period

Attendance
Actual/
Possible

Mr Bob Piper

Chairman

30 November 2012

9/10

Mrs Anita Gosain

Non Executive Director

30 November 2010

8/10

Mrs Vicky Harris

Non Executive Director

28 February 2013

8/10

Mr Paul Riley

Non Executive Director

30 September 2011

9/10

Mr Parmjit Sahota (note 1)

Non Executive Director

28 February 2013

1/1

Mrs Jackie Smart (note 2)

Non Executive Director

31 January 2013

9/10

Mr Bryan Stock

Non Executive Director

29 February 2012

8/10

Ms Karen Dowman

Chief Executive Officer

6 months

8/10

Mr John Campbell

Director of Strategic
Planning

3 months

10/10

Dr Stephen Edwards

Medical Director

3 months

8/10

Mr Andrew Green

Director of Corporate
Governance and Trust
Secretary

3 months

9/10

Mr Paul Stefanoski

Director of Finance

3 months

9/10

Mr Richard Taylor

Director of Service Delivery

3 months

10/10

Notes:
1. Mr Sahota was appointed from 1 March 2010
2. Mrs Smart was reappointed from 1 February 2010

2.3 The Audit Committee
2.3.1 Membership of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is a sub committee of the
Board of Directors, and its membership is comprised
wholly of Non Executive Directors. The Chairman of
the Audit Committee is confirmed as having recent
and relevance financial experience. Table 4 opposite
shows membership and attendance of the committee
meetings.

2.3.2 Role of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee’s key function is to provide the
Trust with assurance as to both the adequacy and
operation of systems of risk management and
internal control within the Trust, and the integrity of
the financial statements and quality accounts of the
Trust.
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In discharging its duties during the year the
Committee has:
• reviewed and approved the annual work
programme of both Internal and External Audit
• reviewed the annual management letter from
External Audit and recommended its acceptance to
the Board of Directors
• reviewed the accounting policies of the Trust, in
particular the application of such under the
International Finance Reporting Standards.
• reviewed the Assurance Framework and associated
risk management systems of the Trust
• reviewed the Quality Accounts for 2009/10
• received and reviewed reports from the Internal
Auditor on their work programme
• received regular updates on the work of the Local
Counter Fraud Specialist
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Table 4: The Audit Committee

Member

Attendance (Actual/Possible)

Mr Bryan Stock (Chair)

6/6

Mrs Anita Gosain

4/6

Mrs Vicky Harris

2/6

Mrs Jackie Smart

4/6

Mr Bob Piper

4/6

2.4 The Nominations Committee
2.4.1 Membership
The Terms of Reference of the Committee include
membership and quoracy of both Non Executive
Directors and Governors, reflecting the mandatory
and constitutional duties placed on them.

The Chairman of the Trust is Chair of the
Nominations Committee. Table 5 below provides
details of membership of and attendance at meetings
of the Committee during the year.

Table 5: The Nominations Committee
Member

Attendance (Actual/Possible)

Mr Bob Piper (Chairman)

3/3

Mr David Boaz (Governor)

2/3

Mr Glyn Jones (Governor)

1/3

Mr Dick Marsh (Governor)

1/3

Mrs Anita Gosain (Non Executive Director)

1/3

Mrs Jackie Smart (Non Executive Director)

1/3

Mrs Vicky Harris (Non Executive Director)

1/3

Mr Paul Riley (Non Executive Director)

1/3

Mr Bryan Stock (Non Executive Director)

1/3
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2.4.2 Role of the Nominations Committee
The main duties of the Committee are to:
• review the composition of the Board of Directors
• make recommendations for appointment to the
Board of Directors
During the year the Committee has:
• reviewed and approved the change of portfolios of
Executive Directors
• reviewed the immediate succession plans for the
Executive Directors
• reviewed the skills and knowledge required of the
composition of Non Executive Directors
• overseen the arrangements for the recruitment of a
new Non Executive Director
• made recommendations to the Assembly of
Governors for the appointment and
reappointment of Non Executive Directors

2.5 The Quality Assurance Committee
The Quality Assurance Committee is a sub committee
of the Board of Directors with the purpose of
reviewing and assuring the adequacy of systems
associated with mandated and accredited quality
standards of service delivery.
During the year the Committee has:
• reviewed the evidence to support declarations of
compliance against Standards for Better Health
• reviewed quarterly risk management reports,
including details of incident reporting and analysis
• considered reports from external independent
reviews of mental health services elsewhere and
association improvement plans
• received and reviewed reports of Care Quality
Commissioners visits in their review of the
application of Mental Health Act 1983 in our in
patient services

• reviewed relevant elements of the Assurance
Framework and the plans to mitigate high level
risks
• received reports concerning Infection Control and
wider patient environment matters

2.5.1 Membership of the Committee
The Committee is comprised wholly of Non Executive
Directors. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is
not a member of the Quality Assurance Committee
but may attend its meetings.
Table 6 below provides a summary of attendance of
members at meeting during 2009/10.

2.6 The Finance Committee
2.6.1 Role of the Finance Committee
The Committee, as a sub committee of the Board of
Directors, undertook a range of duties with the
purpose of assuring the adequacy of the financial and
wider operational performance management
systems, planning processes and investment plans.
During the year the Committee has:
• undertaken an in depth review of the Trust plans to
achieve recurring cost efficiencies
• reviewed in detail the outline and full business
cases for service developments
• considered the processes for the development of
the Annual Budget and Annual Plan
• reviewed the adequacy of relevant risk mitigation
plans
• received and considered proposals emanating from
service contract negotiations with commissioners
• reviewed the implementation of service line
reporting, and in particular the methodology for
cost allocation
• reviewed the working capital balances

Table 6: The Quality Assurance Committee
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Member

Attendance (Actual/Possible)

Mrs Vicky Harris (Chair)

4/5

Mrs Jackie Smart

4/5

Mr Paul Riley

1/5

Mr Bob Piper

2/5
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2.6.2 Membership of the Committee
Members of the Committee are Non Executive
Directors, and whilst the Chairman of the Audit
Committee may not be a member of this Committee,
he may attend its meetings.
Table 7 below summarises attendance of members at
meetings held during the year.

2.7 Membership of the Trust
2.7.1 Eligibility
The Trust has two membership constituencies, those
being public and staff. The public constituency, which
includes service users and carers, is drawn from
Sandwell and the neighbouring Black Country
boroughs of Wolverhampton, Walsall and Dudley,
Birmingham and other boroughs within the West
Midlands area.The constitution of the Trust provides
that the minimum age for membership is 12.
All Staff who are employed by or seconded to the Trust
for at least twelve months are automatically members
of the Trust, unless they expressly choose otherwise.

2.7.2 Membership Profile
Tables 8a and 8b overleaf provide an analysis of our
membership at 31 March 2010. During the year, the
Trust recruited over 1000 new public members, with
the objective of improving representation in the
Sandwell areas and in the younger age, male and white
groups, these being those which are less well
represented when compared with Census 2001
information. Whilst this was relatively successful, it
remains a priority to improve our membership of 12 to
16 year olds, and increase our total public membership
to 4650 by 31 March 2011, in line with our
membership development strategy.

Movements in membership within the year are
provided in Table 9 on page 23.

2.7.3 Membership engagement and
involvement
The Trust has a good record of membership, including
service user and carer, involvement and is committed to
developing this further. During the year the Trust:
• launched it quality strategy, which will be heavily
influenced by service user, carer and member
involvement.
• convened its “Making a Difference” Group, of
current and recent service users, the remit of which
will be to survey views of current users/carers across
a range of our services
• engaged members and the local public in a wide
consultation about the new High Dependency
Rehabilitation Unit, which included the creation of a
reference group of members to assist in the planning
and design of the unit.
• launched a new volunteers policy and have attracted
40 new volunteers undertaking a wide range of
activities across the Trust
• issued newsletters to members
• held our annual membership event which again
attracted a good attendance from our members and
participation from a wide range of partner and other
interested organisations
• established links with a number of bodies from the
public, voluntary and private sector to promote the
Trust and engage with the wider communities.
A Governor led steering group oversees the
implementation of the membership development
strategy and has agreed as a priority for the coming
year the closer engagement of Governors with their
own constituent members.

Table 7: The Finance Committee
Member

Attendance (Actual/Possible)

Mr Paul Riley (Chair)

9/9

Mrs Jackie Smart

5/9

Mrs Anita Gosain

2/9

Mr Bob Piper

4/9

Mr Parmjit Sahota

0/1

Mrs Vicky Harris

5/9
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Table 8a: Membership by constituency and area/class at 31 March 2010
PUBLIC

STAFF

Area

Number

Class

Number

Sandwell

2734

Medical

43

Wolverhampton

120

Nursing

288

Walsall

224

Social Care

32

Dudley

381

Professional/Clinical
Support

123
305

Birmingham & Wider
West Midlands

589

Admin & Management

216

TOTAL

4048

TOTAL

1007

Table 8b: Public Membership by gender, age and ethnicity at 31 March 2010
Number of members

%

1713
2335

42.3
57.7

4048

100

205
426
3417

5.1
10.5
84.4

4048

100

Ethnicity (note 1):
White
Mixed
Asian
Black
Other

2966
145
558
324
55

73.3
3.6
13.8
8
1.3

TOTAL

4048

100

Gender:
Male
Female
Age:
12-16
17-21
22 and over
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Table 9: Movements in Membership
Public

Staff

Total

At 1 April 2009

2889

1031

3920

Add Members joining

1315

96

1411

Less Members leaving

- 156

- 120

- 276

At 31 March 2010

4048

1007

5055

2.8 Compliance with the NHS Foundation
Trust Code of Governance
The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance is
issued by Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS
Foundation Trusts. The Code provides an overarching
framework of standards of corporate governance,
drawn from best practice in both the public and
private sector, reflective of mandatory and regulatory
obligations placed on NHS Foundation Trusts.
Monitor encourages Trusts to comply with the
principles within the Code, and to provide
explanations where such practice has not been
applied.
Within this report, the required disclosures are made
as to the application of and compliance with the
principles and provisions of the Code.
The Board of Directors confirms that to the best of its
knowledge, the Trust complies with the NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance.
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3 Directors’ Report

Client and nurse at Hallam Street Hospital cafe
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3.1 Directors of the Trust

3.2 Principal Activities of the Trust

The following held positions on the Board of
Directors during the last financial year.

The principal activities of the Trust are the provision
of mental health and specialist learning disability
services to all age groups, and the provision of social
care services to adults with mental ill health, under
delegated authority of Sandwell Metropolitan
Borough Council (MBC).

Non-Executive Chairman:
Mr Bob Piper
(Chair of Nominations Committee)

Non-Executive Directors
Mrs Anita Gosain
(Chair of Remuneration Committee)
Mrs Vicky Harris
(Chair of Quality Assurance Committee)
Mr Paul Riley
(Chair of Finance Committee; Senior
Independent Director)
Mr Parmjit Sahota
(Appointment commenced 1 March 2010)
Mrs Jackie Smart
(Chair of Hospital Managers Committee)
Mr Bryan Stock
(Chair of Audit Committee; Deputy Chairman)

Executive Directors
Ms Karen Dowman
(Chief Executive Officer – Chair of Executive
Committee)
Mr John Campbell
(Director of Strategic Planning)
Dr Stephen Edwards
(Medical Director)
Mr Andrew Green
(Director of Corporate Governance and Trust
Secretary)
Mr Paul Stefanoski
(Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive)
Mr Richard Taylor
(Director of Service Delivery)

The terms of authorisation for the Trust, as issued by
Monitor (the Independent Regulator of NHS
Foundation Trusts), includes a requirement at
Condition 7 for the Trust to provide “mandatory”
services, as itemised in Schedule 2 to the
authorisation. Details of the terms of authorisation
can be found at the website of Monitor,
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk

3.3 Significant variation in asset values
The Trust carried out a full revaluation of its assets
during 2009/10.
The revaluation was conducted using the Modern
Equivalent Asset (MEA) method of valuation. This
resulted in a general reduction in the holding value of
assets held by the Trust.
Table 1 overleaf summarises the changes resulting
from the valuation.

3.4 Risk in use of Financial Instruments
There are no identified risks in the use of Financial
Instruments

3.5 Significant events post 31st March
2010
The Directors can confirm that there have been no
significant events affecting the Trust post the 31st
March 2010 and completion of its accounts.

Other Directors regularly attending Board meetings
are:
Mr Allan Duffell
(Director of Workforce)
Ms Sue Marshall
(Associate Director of Care Governance)
Profiles of all directors can be found in Section 2 of
this report.
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Table 1: Variation in Asset Values
Change in
Valuation (£000s)

Change to
Revaluation
Reserve (£000s)

Impact on Income &
Expenditure
Position (£000s)

Edward Street Hospital

-1,383

-1,380

-3

Heath Lane Hospital

-3,028

-2,932

-96

Other Assets

-510

45

-555

Total

-4,921

-4,267

-654

3.6 Employment Policies
3.6.1 Equal Opportunities
The recruitment of an appropriately skilled and
experienced workforce that represents the diversity of
the population we serve remains an important
objective of the Trust.
Staff from a Black and Minority Ethnic (BME)
background currently represent 35.5% of the Trust
workforce, which compares favourably with the BME
population of Sandwell of 20.3% (Census 2001).
To further this objective we undertake close
monitoring of the composition of our workforce.

Workforce composition and other indicators of
employment activity such as the number of
grievances and disciplinary cases have been reviewed
during the year by the Quality Assurance Committee.
It remains our aim not to create unnecessary barriers
in our employment processes, especially during the
recruitment and selection of candidates, particularly
those with disabilities. The Guaranteed Interview
Scheme, which was introduced to support this aim,
continues to be successful. During 2009/10, 4.7% of
applicants were guaranteed interview, of which 2.4%
were successfully appointed. An analysis of our
workforce at 31st March 2010 is included in Table 2
below.

Table 2: Analysis of Workforce at 31 March 2010
Analysis

Whole Time Equivalent %

Gender:
Male
Female

240
776

23.6
76.4

1016

100

10
936
59
11

1.0
92.1
5.8
1.1

1016

100

Ethnicity:
White
Mixed
Asian
Black
Other

628
27
153
178
30

61.8
2.7
15.1
17.5
2.9

TOTAL

1016

100

Age:
Under 21
22-59
60 – 64
65 and over

10 staff positively declared they had a disability
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3.6.2 Staff Health and Well Being
All our staff have access to a comprehensive
Occupational Health Service, which is provided under
contract by our neighbouring NHS general and acute
hospital Trust.
In addition, the Trust directly provides a Staff Support
and Counselling Service.
During the coming year, we shall review our policies
for the health and well being of staff, and the
associated Occupational Health service specifications
so as to ensure the key recommendations of the
Boorman Review can be addressed.
Our sickness absence rate remains higher than the
NHS average, and in acknowledgement of the
associated extra cost of sickness, the Board of
Directors set a target rate for 2009/10 of 6%. Closer
management during the year, and a revised policy for
the management of sickness absence, has seen the
achievement of this target as the figures in Table 3
below demonstrate.

3.7 Staff Involvement and Engagement
Within the Trust there is a strong commitment to
partnership working and involvement, which has
helped to improve relations with staff and their
representatives at all levels. A key aspect of this was
the establishment of a Staff Forum, which replaced
the previous, more traditional consultative
committee. The forum is chaired by the Staff Side
Lead, a full time position to which the holder is
seconded for three years following election by
colleagues.
The development of partnership working has
improved employee relations and enabled the
management of change and local services initiatives

to be handled sensitively, with staff feeling both
informed and supported. The involvement of Staff
Side Lead in meetings at middle management level
has led to a change in the role of staff
representatives, where they are embedded in the
change process, rather than responding to it. This
initiative has also increased confidence between
management and staff in their joint working
relationships.
Other areas that have underpinned partnership
working include:
• Staff Side sitting on interview panels for new
executive directors
• improved communication links, including dedicated
staff side intranet forums, local staff side surgeries
and representation at all directorates in all business
planning
• the development of a staff side action plan to
support the organisational agenda
• Staff Side managing the annual staff survey which
includes reporting findings to management, the
development of a presentation brief to disseminate
to all staff and the development of associated
action plans
• Staff Side accreditation of their own
representatives (rather than applying to the Trust).
As part of the Trust’s support of staff engagement,
we currently feature as a best practice case study on
the Social Partnership Forum, titled “Improved
employee relations at Sandwell Mental Health and
Social Care NHS Foundation Trust” which looks at
how the Trust has developed its involvement agenda
from a “traditional consultative framework to an
engaging and responsive staff forum”.

Table 3: Analysis of Sickness Absence Rates
2009/10 %

2008/9 %

Short term

2.73

2.95

Long term

3.17

3.68

TOTAL

5.90

6.63
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3.7.1 Staff Engagement: the Staff Side View
Phil Cole, the elected Staff Side Lead and Chair of the
Staff Forum, comments:

representatives such as Estates and Facilities. We are
constantly striving to recruit local representatives to
reflect the diverse nature of our workforce.

“The Trust continues to demonstrate partnership
working, and the Staff Forum is well attended by
Trade union representatives from throughout the
Trust. The Chief Executive Officer and Director of
Workforce regularly attend and support the forum.

Local trade unions have embraced the Foundation
Trust model with the majority of staff governor roles
being held by trade union representatives who are
engaging and challenging to ensure maximum
involvement of all Governors.”

Staff Side communicate with all staff utilising local IT
systems and meetings.

3.7.2 Staff Survey

National concerns around finance have demonstrated
a commitment by all to work together to secure a fair
and reasonable outcome for all staff whilst
recognising the need to reduce costs. An example of
such co-operation was the recent consultation on The
Management of Organisational Change policy, with
agreement being reached on reducing protection
arrangements.
Staff Side have taken the lead on distributing the
Annual NHS Survey. By encouraging members to
participate, we can use the responses to support calls
for improvements to flexible working and address
concerns such as violence in the workplace.
The joint trade unions continue to move forward
within the Trust but face a number of challenges; we
still have departments without any elected

The 7th annual national survey of NHS staff was
conducted between October and December 2009.
The purpose of the survey is to assess the
effectiveness of the NHS through the views of staff in
order to help shape future developments. Locally the
survey helps us assess our effectiveness as a Trust,
and it also identifies how we can make improvements
in working conditions and practices.
In 2007 Staff Side took on responsibility for the
distribution and administration of the survey. This
change reassured staff that all information would be
treated in confidence. Once again the Trust has had a
very strong response rate of 63%, which is in the
highest 20% of MH and LD trusts, compared with
59% in 2008. Tables 4 & 5 below and opposite
outline response rates and the Trust’s four best and
worst performing areas.

Table 4: Staff Satisfaction Survey - Response Rates
2008/09
Response Rate
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2009/10

Trust Improvement/
Deterioration

Trust

National
Average

Trust

National
Average

59%

54%

63%

53%

4% Improvement
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Table 5
2008/09

2009/10

Trust Improvement/
Deterioration

Top 4 Ranking Scores

Trust

National
Average

Trust

National
Average

KF9. Percentage of staff
working extra hours

49%

64%*

51%

63%

2% Deterioration

KF15. Percentage of staff 79%
appraised with personal
development plans in last
12 months

62%*

78%

67%

1% Deterioration

KF14. Percentage of staff
having well structured
appraisals in last 12
months

38%

32%*

45%

37%

7% Improvement

KF1. Percentage of staff
feeling satisfied with the
quality of work and
patient care they
are able to deliver

69%

59%*

80%

76%

11% Improvement

2008/09

2009/10

Trust Improvement/
Deterioration

Bottom 4 Ranking Scores

Trust

National
Average

Trust

National
Average

KF4. Percentage of staff
agreeing that they have
an interesting job

73%

81%*

74%

82%

1% Improvement

KF10. Percentage of staff
using flexible working
options

58%

72%*

64%

72%

6% Improvement

KF25. Percentage of staff
experiencing physical
violence from staff in
last 12 months

3%

2%*

3%

2%

0% No Change

KF40. Percentage of staff
experiencing
discrimination at work
in last 12 months

9%

8%**

11%

8%

2% Deterioration

With the exception of those indicated, all figures taken from
2009 CQC National NHS staff survey 2009 Results from Sandwell
Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust

* Taken from 2008 CQC National NHS staff survey 2008 Results
from Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation
Trust
** Taken from 2008 Quality Health staff survey report for
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust
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Despite Key Findings (KF) 9 and 15 showing a slight
deterioration, the Care Quality Commission find there
to be no significant change and both results are
significantly better than the national average. As well
as the level of appraisals being undertaken, KF14
shows that they are also well structured. It is also
positive to note that there has been a significant
improvement on the level of staff satisfaction in
relation to the quality of work and patient care they
are able to deliver.
Although KF4, KF10 and KF25 form part of our
bottom 4 indicators, when compared with the
national position, all three indicators show either an
improvement or no deterioration on the previous
year. Following an audit of case work, in relation to
staff experiencing physical violence from staff and
those experiencing discrimination, there has been
only one reported discrimination case in the past four
years, in 2009/10, and only one reported assault case
in the last 4 years in 2008/09.
For 2010/11 the aim will be to primarily improve on
the 4 worst performing areas and to achieve this
actions will be developed at directorate level, as well
as from a Staff Side and at a corporate level. Some of
these indicative actions are outlined below.

KF4 – Staff agreeing they have interesting
jobs
• Improved staff engagement and involvement
• Continuation of Productive Ward (time to care) and
Creating Capable Teams Approach (CCTA)
• Development of new roles
• Recognition of achievement through staff awards
ceremony
• Enhancing appraisals/personal development plans

KF10 – Staff using flexible working options
•
•
•
•
•

Improve awareness of flexible working options
Improved reporting of flexible working requests
Review flexible working policy
Develop new ways of working
Monitor flexible working in relation to electronic
roster management

KF25 – Staff experiencing physical violence
from staff
• Review training for staff and managers into the
application of related polices
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• Review reporting mechanisms
• Raise awareness of zero tolerance

KF40 – Staff experiencing discrimination at
work
•
•
•
•

Incorporate into the equality strategy group
Review approach to capturing information
Consider communication/awareness campaign
Review organisational practices

Overall this has been a positive response with the
Trust making improvements in most areas. In
addition, the Trust has also had its highest response
rate to date (63%) and is significantly higher than the
average at 53%. Finally, question 17e from the staff
survey relates to the care of patients/service users is
the Trust’s top priority. When reviewing the
percentage of staff who agree/strongly agree, the
Trust achieved a result of 60%, compared with the
average of 57% and this is a further improvement on
the 2008 figure of 54%.

3.8 Complaints, Concerns and
Compliments
3.8.1 Complaints
Understanding and learning from complaints is
recognised as being an essential element in
improving the quality of service provision for our
users.
The introduction of the new regulations for
complaints management in April 2010 provided the
Trust with an opportunity to revise its own
arrangements in order not only to ensure compliance
with the regulations but moreover that complaint
management is dealt with proactively and integral to
an open culture within the Trust.
The policy and procedures for the management of
complaints, concerns and compliments are coordinated corporately, and reported on regularly to
senior management. The Quality Assurance
Committee receives quarterly reports, and is seeking
to enhance assurances that learning from complaints
is commonplace within the Trust.
During the year, the Trust received 54 formal
complaints, which represents a significant, increase
on the previous year’s figure of 17, in main reflective
of both the new requirements and arrangements in
place for the year.
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Of the 54 complaints received during this year:
• 91% were acknowledged within three working
days
• 43% of complainants wanted a meeting to discuss
their complaint
• 2 complaints were resolved later than 6 months
• 3 complaints were subsequently withdrawn
• 1 complaint, as at 31 March 2010 had been
referred to the Ombudsman
The majority (48) complaints related to Adult and
Older Adult Services, of which 21 related to Hallam
Street Hospital and 9 related to Edward Street
Hospital.
The introduction of the new regulations makes
meaningful comparison of activity between years
difficult.
Service managers lead the investigation of complaints
in their areas, and are fully involved in the process,
from attending the initial meetings with
complainants, through to the formulation of
responses and, as necessary any action plans to
address weaknesses. At a corporate level, the
Operational Risk Group, review the complaints
register along with the responses to complaints in
order to both identify any issues which may indicate a
need for organisation wide learning and
improvement, and ensure action plans are
implemented.
There are three main themes emerging from the
complaints received during the year, and these are:
• Staff attitude
• Communication and information
• Aspects of treatment and care
Consequently, the following key actions are being
pursued to address the learning:
• Improve reporting of and feedback from
complaints to all staff within the Trust, through a
variety of methods, for example, the regular
“Report and Learn” bulletin.
• Ensure all staff are reminded of their duties under
key policies, such as the Care Programme
Approach and Standards of Record Keeping,
through improving the awareness of the existence
of such policies, and improved supervision
practices.
• Improve the range of information available to
service users and their carers

• Review our “customer care” training programmes,
with an increased emphasis on respect and dignity
of the individual
The Trust acknowledges the emerging theme of staff
attitudes within the complaints received, and through
the Executive Committee, will develop improvement
plans to enhance the open culture of the
organisation. In doing so it is also recognised that this
will require our senior managers and professional
leads to take a proactive lead in this work.

3.8.2 Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
As mentioned above, the introduction of the new
regulations for the management of complaints also
impacted on the way the Trust manages the PALS
service, and in particular the fact that verbal concerns
raised through PALS and not resolved within 24 hours
are now automatically dealt with as formal
complaints.
During 2009/10 the department dealt with 232
contacts, compared to 231 in the previous financial
year.
Of these, 28% were connected with advice and
signposting to other services within the Trust or
outside organisations. The remainder were concerns
expressed about a range of issues including food, the
environment, and again, the themes recorded in
formal complaints. The nature of these concerns is
such that they are able to be dealt with relatively
quickly. However, close monitoring of PALS activity is
undertaken and reported on to varying levels of
management.

3.8.3 Compliments
It is encouraging, especially for our front line staff, to
learn of compliments from service users and carers,
and during the year 50 formal compliments were
received by the Public and Patient involvement team,
which is a slight reduction on last years figure of 59.
The majority of compliments were expressed about
care provided from Edward Street Hospital and the
Occupational Therapy services.

3.9 Sustainability and Climate Change
In its Annual Plan for 2009/10, the Trust committed
to work in partnership with The Carbon Trust to
develop a carbon reduction plan and strategy by the
end of the financial year.
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The work was driven by both the acknowledgement
of the detrimental impact of carbon emissions on
both the environment and ultimately people’s health,
and the obligations of the Trust to seek to reduce the
level of carbon emissions it generates in order to
minimise the impact.
In March 2010, the Board of Directors approved its
Carbon Reduction Strategy, with the key aim to
reduce carbon emissions by 20% (of the baseline
figure for 2007/8) by 2012/13.
The strategy sets out the following key objectives that
the Trust will pursue in furtherance of its aim:
• review and reduce the primary energy sources to
our buildings
• develop sustainable buildings, as the opportunity
arises
• improve our waste management and recycling
processes
• reduce emissions from our transport and travel
activities

• promote sustainable procurement within the Trust
• communicate and engage with our staff and wider
membership, recognising that basic good
housekeeping is an effective tool in reducing
emissions.
The Trust has established a Carbon Management
Group, which includes staff representatives from each
service area, corporate specialists, the Director of
Corporate Governance with executive responsibility
for the strategy, and the Chairman of the Trust as
Board sponsor.
This group will promote and generate ideas and
projects for carbon reduction and shall report to the
Executive Committee, which in turn will have
responsibility to co-ordinate and oversee the
implementation of the strategy and report on its
progress to the Board of Directors.
Table 6 below provides an analysis and comparison of
non-financial indicators of the Trust’s performance in
carbon reduction and sustainability.

Table 6: Performance in Carbon Reduction and Sustainability
Area

Waste
minimization
and
management

Finite
Resources
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Non-financial data

Expenditure (£k)

2008/9

2009/10

2008/9

2009/10

233.8

212.5

78.9

79.1

Methods of
disposal:
• Clinical Waste:
- High Temp.
- Alternative
• Landfill

50.8
0
183.0

1.2
35.3
176.0

Water (m3)
Electricity (GJ)
Gas (GJ)

20434
7197
25808

15749
7699
18312

51.7
268.8
348

53.0
336.4
183.5

Absolute values
for total
amount of
waste produced
(tonnes)
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3.10 Counter Fraud Arrangements
The Trust employs its own Local Counter Fraud
Specialist (LCFS) who is accountable to the Director of
Resources.
The Audit Committee receive and review reports on
Counter Fraud activities and associated
recommendations.
There were five referrals received and investigated
during the year, notwithstanding a number of
enquiries from managers and staff across the Trust,
which the LCFS gave advice and guidance on but
which did not require an investigation.

Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents and has
maintained compliance for all its properties at level
one of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order
2005.

3.12 Audit Arrangements
The External Auditors to the Trust are KPMG LLP (UK),
One Snowhill, Snowhill Queensway, Birmingham B4
6GH
Their remuneration for the period 1st April 2009 to
31st March 2010 was £73,000.
Additional work relating to the Trust’s Quality Report
was conducted at a cost of £15,000.

Additional activities have included:
• On-going work regarding staff having correct
paperwork/permits to work at the Trust
• Liaison with External Agencies e.g. UK Border
Agency, Local Police, HMRC.
• Promotion of fraud awareness, including
presentations and corporate induction
• Setting up of joint protocols with internal/external
departments e.g. Human Resources,
Communications, and Internal Audit
• Reviewing all Trust policies for ‘fraud-proofing’, as
a member of the Policy Ratification Group.
Procedures are also ‘fraud proofed’
• Undertaking of Mandatory National and Local
exercises e.g. Recruitment Agencies, Creditor Data
for the Trust, Staff timesheets
• Continuing liaison with Internal and External Audit
and internal departments e.g. Human Resources
• Issuing LCFS Staff Survey to all staff to assist in
tailoring fraud work plans to cover any risks which
may apply to the Trust.

3.11 Health and Fire Safety
The Trust is committed to ensuring that the health
and safety of its staff, service users and visitors is not
compromised and that best practice with regards to
health and fire safety is adopted across the
organisation.
The Health and Safety Group, whose membership
includes staff representatives, management and the
Health and Fire Safety Adviser, meets regularly to
review policy and risks, and the wider health and fire
safety work plan.
The Trust once again has achieved the silver award in
Occupational Health and Safety as presented by the

No other non audit work was conducted by KPMG
for the Trust during this period.
Where the Trusts Auditors provide non audit services,
these would be considered on a case by case basis,
by the Board of Directors to ensure the Auditors
independence would not be compromised. Such
appointments would be reported to the Audit
Committee which would receive reports on outcomes
of their work

3.13 Infection Prevention and Control
The prevention and control of infection remains a
priority activity for the Trust. The Infection Control
Committee, which is chaired by our nominated
Director for Infection Prevention and Control, and
whose membership includes a Consultant
Microbiologist and Infection Control Nurse has met
regularly throughout the year. The Committee
oversees the work plan which last year was
dominated by the work within the Trust and with
local health partner organsiations concerned with the
Swine Flu pandemic. In addition, the Trust has:
• continued to promote the “clean hands campaign”
• maintained compliance against mandated
standards of registration
• had no cases of MRSA bacteraemia or clostridium
difficile reported during the year

3.14 Equality and Diversity
As a healthcare organisation we want to celebrate
and encourage the diversity that exists within the
Trust and within the community of Sandwell, as well
highlighting any areas where people are treated
unfairly or without the respect that they deserve.
It is clear from national evidence, and from the
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sharing of individual stories, that people still
experience discrimination and are treated unfairly
simply because of who they are and the things they
can’t change about themselves. Within our particular
context there is the added stigma associated with
mental health problems. The Trust believes that this is
unacceptable and wants to do all it can to prevent
this from happening and to promote a more
compassionate and equal place for people to work
for and receive care from.
The Trust has established an Equality & Diversity
Strategic Group with responsibility for ensuring the
development and delivery of the Trust’s Equality and
Diversity agenda, in particular promoting and
maintaining equality and diversity across the Trust.
This includes meeting the requirements of equality
and diversity legislation and policy across all the
Trust’s functions. Areas of work over the last year
have included:
• a review of the Trust’s Race Equality Scheme
• a review of the Trust’s Equality and Diversity Action
plan
• the planning, creation and consultation of the new
Single Equality Scheme
• a review of interpreting and translation services at
the Trust
• the development of our understanding of the
people we employ and care for through ongoing
analysis of workforce data, service user data and
use of the Mental Health Act around equality
issues.

3.14.1 Implementation of a new Equality
Impact Assessment Framework
The Trust has developed, piloted and implemented a
new Equality Impact Assessment Framework (EqIA)
during the year. EqIAs are a way of thinking about
the impact that a Trust policy, strategy, project or
service may have on different groups within the
community including staff, service users and carers.
Ultimately, EqIAs are about how we treat other
people and reflecting on whether we are being fair in
all we do. An EqIA is carried out whenever the Trust
is developing a new proposal or reviewing or
amending an existing proposal.
The aim of an EqIA is to ensure that all our activities
as a Trust help to promote equality, challenge
discrimination and are genuinely accessible to all.
EqIAs offer a proactive approach to achieving equal
outcomes for staff, the local community and service
users. They also help us to fulfil our legal obligations
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under equality legislation as part of our specific duties
as a public authority. Completed EqIAs are published
on the Trust website and recorded in a Register to
assist with monitoring any the proposed actions and
changes.
Ultimate accountability for ensuring that EqIAs are
completed and published lies with the Trust Board.
The Chief Executive and Board look for assurance
that governance arrangements are in place for the
delivery and review of all proposals. This means that
people at all levels of the organisation are involved in
this process.

3.14.2 Single Equality Scheme: Creation and
Consultation
Like all public sector bodies the Trust is required to
produce race, disability and gender equality schemes.
These are requirements under the Race Relation’s
Amendment Act 2000, Disability Equality Duty and
Gender Equality Duty respectively.
The government is advocating that all public bodies,
including health organisations, move towards having
a Single Equality Scheme which expands to cover all
the equality and diversity strands including not only
ethnicity, gender, and disability but also trans-gender,
age, sexual orientation and religion and belief. This
new scheme will reflect the new Single Equality Duty
found in the latest equality legislation.
For the development of its Single Equality Scheme the
Trust has consulted widely with a range of
stakeholder organisations, the Trust’s members and
Governors, and other interested parties. The Scheme,
to be launched at a Membership Event in June 2010,
will show how the Trust is meeting its statutory duties
around equality and sets out the actions that we have
already taken, or plan to take, in relation to
promoting equality and diversity and challenging
discrimination.
It identifies new and improved ways of working to
ensure that the Trust is more efficient and effective in
meeting the diverse needs of its staff and those who
use its services. To this end, our Single Equality
Scheme will provide an overarching strategy for how
we develop equality and diversity within the Trust to
ensure that all are treated with fairness and respect. It
will reflect the Trust’s commitment to putting equality
and diversity at the centre of all its work.
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3.14.3 Diversity Training for Staff
To ensure staff at the Trust have an adequate
understanding of the issues around equality and
diversity, mandatory diversity awareness training has
been offered regularly through 2009/10. This is a full
day of training aimed at both clinical and non-clinical
staff.
The aim of the training is to enable employees of the
Trust to gain an understanding of equality and
diversity issues that affect the workplace and how
they deliver their services. In the independent Staff
Survey for 2007 only 18% of staff reported that they
had received Equality and Diversity training and an
improvement to 25% of staff was set in conjunction
with Staff Side representatives. The Staff Survey for
2009 saw a significant increase to 44% in staff
trained and under current arrangements the majority
of staff should have received training by March 2012.
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Anthony Steen talks about his journey
to employment at a membership event
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3.15 Financial Performance
This report relates to the twelve-month period from 1
April 2009 to 31 March 2010.

As at 31 March 2010, the key performance measures
for the Trust were as outlined below:

The Trust has reported a surplus on income and
expenditure of £121k for the period, which is an
improvement on the original plan deficit of £173k.
This reflects technical accounting adjustments
favourable to the overall position, in particular a
reduction in depreciation charged to the accounts as
a result of changes to asset values and change in
accounting policy (impact £300k). Earnings Before
Interest Tax Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA)
for the year was £2.6m (5.06%) compared to the
plan of £2.5m (5.0%).

• Financial risk rating of 4;
• Surplus for the financial year of £121k;
• Cash balance of £4.9m – against a plan of £2.5m
(the key increase being due to timing differences
on the High Dependency Rehabilitation Unit
development).

Income received during the year was £2.2m higher
than planned due to over-performance on activityrelated income (£0.5m), which moved from a block
to a cost and volume contract for 2009/10, the
continuation of delivering Group Homes Service
longer than planned (£1.2m), Metro Court recharge
of (£0.3m), and additional Specialist support (£0.2m).
The Trust has benefited from having in place a legally
binding three-year contract with Sandwell PCT, for
which 2009/10 was the first year and will provide a
measure of certainty to about 80% of the Trust’s
income through to 2011/12.
Pay costs are the main expenditure item for the Trust,
representing over 70% of operating expenditure.
The financial year 2009/10 saw actual costs £1.1m
higher than planned due to the continuation of
delivering Group Homes beyond original project plan
(£0.9m) and Medical agency costs (£0.2m). Other
cost increases were directly related to additional
income received as described above.

Table 7 below summarises the Trust’s overall financial
performance for the year.

3.15.1 Capital Investment
Dividend payments made by the Trust on past capital
expenditure as an NHS Trust were £0.5m in
September 2009 and £0.5m in March 2010. Treasury
funding of £2.1m was received by the Trust in
2009/10 to part-fund the development of the High
Dependency Rehabilitation Unit.
Future capital finance as a Foundation Trust is
expected to be sourced internally (accumulated
surplus and depreciation charges) or through an
interest-bearing loan. A Prudential Borrowing Limit is
set by Monitor (the Independent Regulator for
Foundation Trusts), which for the Trust is as follows:
• Maximum cumulative long term borrowing of
£9.2m, and
• Approved working capital facility not greater than
£3.7m.
As at 31 March 2010, the Trust had not required any
external finance, or used its working capital facility.

Table 7: Summary of Overall Financial Performance 2009/10
Plan £M

Actual £M

Variance £M

Operating Income

48.4

50.6

2.2

Operating Expenses

-45.9

-48

-2.1

EBITDA

2.5

2.6

0.1

Non Operating Items

-2.7

-2.5

0.2

Net Suplus/(Deficit)

-0.2

0.1

0.3
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Capital expenditure incurred during the year was
£2.4m of which the majority of expenditure was on
schemes as shown in Table 8 below.The capital
programme for 2010/11 includes the main
construction phase of the High Dependency
Rehabilitation Unit (£2.6m).

3.15.2 Liquidity and Cash Management
The cashflow summary for 2009/10 is shown in Table
9 below:

Table 8: Capital Expenditure 2009/10
Scheme Name

Expenditure £000’s

Description

HDRU

901

Building of a new High Dependency
Rehabilitation Unit on Heath Lane Site

Gender Segregation Project

387

Eliminating Mixed Sex Wards

Day Hospital

111

Works to Edward Street Day Hospital

Table 9: Cash Flow Summary 2009/10
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Plan £M

Actual £M

Variance £M

EBITDA

2.5

2.6

0.1

Movement in:
Debtors
Creditors
Other changes in WC

0.6
-0.1
-0.3

0.3
0.1
1.5

-0.3
0.2
1.8

Cashflow from operations

2.7

4.5

1.8

Capital expenditure

-3.3

-2.1

1.2

Cashflow from investing

-3.3

-2.1

1.2

Cashflow before financing

-0.6

2.4

3.0

Net interest
Dividend paid
PDC received/(repaid)
Other

0
-1.0
1.7
0

0
-1.0
2.1
-1.0

0
0
0.4
-1.0

Net cash inflow/outflow

0.1

2.5

2.4
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3.16 Registration with the Care Quality
Commission
It is a legal requirement for all care providers to be
registered with the Care Quality Commission.
Registration requires applicant organisations to
confirm, and support with evidence, that they are
able to meet the quality standards of service as set by
the Commission. The Trust applied for registration of
all relevant services and was granted unconditional
registration by the Care Quality Commission, this
being effective from 1st April 2010.

3.17 National targets
Throughout the year, the Board of Directors
monitored performance against a range of priorities
and targets as shown in Table 10 below.
The Trust has robust systems in place to monitor its
key targets, and met all the Monitor targets for the
year. The only exception was not meeting the CPA 7day follow-up target (which ensures we are seeing
patients discharged from Hallam Street Hospital
within 7 days) in quarter 2. This led to an Amber
governance rating from Monitor and monthly
reporting of this indicator. We established the cause
of this as being duplication in our monitoring
systems, which was quickly streamlined.

Early Intervention and Home Treatment episode
targets are a share of a national allocation rather than
a direct reflection of local investment, and these
targets proved challenging during the year. Following
extensive work within the Early Intervention team to
improve links with primary care services, schools and
colleges, the team exceeded its new cases target for
the year, meaning that 73 young people experiencing
psychosis are being supported by the service to try
and minimise future recurrences.
A Home Treatment episode involves an assessment
with the Home Treatment team followed by a course
of treatment to support a service user to stay at
home. Significant work in the team saw a large
increase in episodes being delivered, meaning that
the Primary Care Trust met this target for the first
time in 2009/10.
Table 11 overleaf shows the Trust’s performance
analysed by financial, governance and mandatory
services risk ratings.

Table 10: Summary of Performance against Compliance Targets 2009/10
Achieved 2009/10
Target

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

CPA 7 day follow up

95%

98.1%

92.7%

98.0%

99%

96.9%

Delayed transfers of care

<7.5%

5.5%

6.2%

6.1%

6.7%

6.1%

Crisis team inpatient
gatekeeping

90%

94.9%

94.3%

99.0%

98.3%

96.6%

Crisis resolution teams

2.5

2.5

2.5

2.5

2.5

2.5

Monitor Service Performance
Score

<1.0

0.0

1.0

0.0

0.0

N/A

No. of Home Treatment
episodes

772

190

329

518

789

789

New cases of psychosis seen

58

9

21

52

73

73

Monitor targets

Local Delivery Plan Targets
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Table 11: Performance Risk Ratings Applied by Monitor 2009/10
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Financial

3

3

4

4

Governance

Green

Amber

Green

Green

Mandatory Services

Green

Green

Green

Green

There was no variance in the expectation to achieve
mandatory services and the financial risk rating
(predicated as a 3) exceeded plans achieving a risk
rating of 4 at year end.
However, the Trust achieved an amber rating for
Governance in Quarter 2 due to the
underperformance in achieving the CPA 7 day follow
up target. Although half of the failures relating to this
target were outside the Trust’s control, The Trust took
remedial action by:
• Reviewing funding arrangements to ensure that
the Trust was not inadvertently incentivising
European visitors to use our wards, for example to
obtain free travel back home
• Reviewed processes for monitoring 7-day follow-up
– minimising the need to operate manual and
electronic monitoring systems in parallel
• Reiterated existing arrangements for 7-day followup to ensure staff continue to follow effective
protocols
• Utilised band 4 Home Treatment team worker to
follow-up all discharges within 7 days
• Continued monthly monitoring of this indicator at
Directorate and Board level.
The implementations of these actions resulted in an
increase in performance in this area reflected in the
target being achieved in subsequent quarters.
NB: It is not possible to complete a direct comparison
of performance for previous years (both planned and
actual) as the above mechanism were not in place
prior to the Trust’s authorisation achieved in February
2009.

3.18 Key developments during the year
High Dependency Rehabilitation Unit (HDRU)
Following on from a review which identified gaps in
the provision of some specialist mental health services
within the Black Country, a High Dependency
Rehabilitation Unit is being built on the Heath Lane
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site. This inpatient facility will provide a range of
therapeutic services to adults with complex needs
who need more intensive input than would be
provided on an adult mental health ward. Previously,
individuals needing this type of treatment would
often need to receive care outside of the West
Midlands, away from family, friends and social
networks that can aid recovery.
An open day enabling local residents to see plans
took place on the actual site of the Unit in October
2009 and construction work started in January 2010.
The Unit has the full backing of Black Country
Commissioners (Sandwell PCT; Dudley PCT and
Walsall PCT) and is due to open in late 2010.

Older Adults’ Therapy and Recovery Outreach
Service (TAROS)
This service became operational at the beginning of
May 2009 to fill the gap between the present
community teams, therapy and recovery unit (TARU)
and the inpatient service. The service was established
following a review of the Older Adults’ day hospital
which required less staff and allowed the TAROS to
be established as a pilot project. The service has
received positive evaluations from service users,
referrers and staff and will be continued beyond the
pilot period.

Penrose single sex accommodation
The NHS has given a clear public commitment to
eliminating mixed-sex accommodation for hospital
inpatients. In June 2009 we completed a
refurbishment of our Learning Disabilities Acute
Assessment and Treatment ward (Penrose). With the
help of a £296k grant from the Department of
Health, the Trust has undertaken a complete
remodelling of facilities on Penrose Ward to
segregate male and female sleeping, bathroom and
toilet facilities. There is also a separate female living
area.
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Eating Disorders

Early Intervention

This service was enhanced during 2009 with further
members of the multi-disciplinary team. The team
now includes a dietician, specialist nurse,
psychologist, occupational therapist, and systemic
family therapist, working predominantly with adults.
The aim of the service is to help adults prevent,
manage, and overcome a range of eating disorders.
The emphasis is on catching problems early before
these disorders become entrenched and serious. The
team therefore encourage people with these
difficulties to seek help early and for GP’s to contact
the service for advice on appropriate treatment
pathways.

This service undertook a significant internal review in
the early part of 2009/10, which resulted in
considerably improved relations with local primary
care and education services, as well as improving
team working and clarifying the service model.
National targets have been met, and the service
continues to develop to meet the needs of its service
users.

The Productive Mental Health Ward
Programme
A national programme which the NHS Institute for
Innovation and Improvement created and the NHS
West midlands are supporting the implementation of
the programme in the trusts.

Figure 1: The Productive Mental Health Ward looks inwards at ward level to understand the impact
on other departments

n

Organisation
Context &
Leadership

Support &
Intervention
Teams

Ward
Organisation

Care Team

Patient

n
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Sandwell Mental Health NHS and Social Care
Foundation Trust embarked on the programme in
November 2008 with three showcase wards (Friar
House – Adult Acute Inpatient, Penrose House Adult
Acute Assessment learning disabilities unit and Salter
Ward older adult assessment ward) commencing the
Foundation modules in March 2009.
The modules include:

• Knowing How we are Doing
This module identifies the objectives to improve
patient safety and reliability of care, to improve
patient experience, to improve staff well-being
and improve efficiency of care through key
performance measures which are owned by the
staff and monitored through an action plan.

• Well Organised Ward
The ward area can become cluttered and
disorganised and this module supports the staff
not only to de-clutter but also to sort, set, shine,
standardise and sustain.

• Patient Status at a Glance
This module supports the staff to identify the
function of the white boards and to ensure that
the board has relevant information that meets all
the team’s needs and identifies the clients’ care
pathway.
These modules can take 12 weeks each to
implement and a 10 point check lists support the
process of implementation.
There are 8 process modules which the teams will
begin after they have implemented the foundation
modules and these are:
Patient Wellbeing, Therapeutic Interventions, Ward
Round, Safe and Supportive Observations,
Admissions and Planned Discharge, Shift
Handovers, Meals and Medicines.
The Productive Mental Health Ward generates a
regular meeting in the staff areas on a 4 weekly
basis to support staff (multi-disciplinary) to identify
areas in there working processes where there is
potential for improvement and identify where staff
can reduce the time spent on looking for items or
wasting time on processes that add no value to
the patients experience therefore releasing time
for direct patient care. The teams have been keen
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to untangle some of these processes and to
become more efficient and effective care
providers.

The West Midlands Productivity Improvement
& Pathways Programme
The West Midlands Productivity Improvement &
Pathways (PIP) Programme is part of the Strategic
Health Authority’s Strategic Framework: Investing for
Health. The aim of the programme is to build
capacity within NHS mental health providers to
improve efficiency, effectiveness, quality and activity
within services.
Within the Trust, preparations for PIP commenced in
early 2009 and a formal programme launch to staff
and managers followed in May 2009.
The PIP involves a number of separate, but
complementary work streams. Each have set targets
throughout and these targets are linked to the
payment of “CQUIN” monies to the provider trusts.
To date the Trust has met all the targets set for
2009/10.
See Figure 2 opposite.
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Figure 2: Mental Health Productivity & Pathways Programme Twin Track Approach
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Assessment and allocation to pathways

Activity

n

Rostering Assessment

n

Collection and analysis of PAS data in pathways
Workforce

Reference Cost Benchmarking Tool

n

n
Time to Care Diary Card completion

Local Cost

n

n
Synthesise
Recommendations
Action Plans

Shadow tariff
Service Level
Economics
Tool

Key:
Directory of Services
The Directory of Services (DoS) is a database used to produce a
detailed map of all the services provided by the organisation. It
provides the Trust with a detailed understanding of all of the
services provided including hours of operation, location and staff
groups providing the service.

MH/LD Benchmarking Tool
A service line benchmarking tool (BMT) has been developed to
enable Trusts in the region to make unit cost, workforce productivity
and quality comparisons

Time to Care Diary Card Exercise
The Time to Care (T2C) Diary Card Exercise is a 3 week exercise that
was conducted within CMHTs, PCLTs and CRHT in November 2009.
During the exercise staff complete a diary card every 15 minutes to

Tariff

identify the nature of the work they were undertaking at that time,
within 3 categories:
• Direct Patient Activity
• Patient Other Activity
• Non-patient Activity
The aim of T2C is to develop a better understanding of the day to
day activities carried out by staff groups/teams within the trust and
benchmark these activities against relevant staff groups within other
provider trusts.

Pathway Allocation Tool
The Care Pathway/Clusters model provides a classification system
that groups service users care needs. Each pathway/cluster
comprises a standardised set of needs and interventions that are
required to meet the needs of patients in that pathway. The Trust is
currently allocating pathways/clusters to all new referrals and has
begun the allocation with existing service users.
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New Trust Brand and Internet Website
A new brand identity, based on the Trust’s vision of:
‘Banishing Stigma, Enabling Recovery’ was developed
during the year, to complement the NHS identity and
the Trust’s values and individuality as a Foundation
Trust. The brand was developed in consultation with
staff and service users and conveys recovery as a
process (stepping stones), service users at the heart of
our work (running person), personalised approach to
care (handwritten style font) and dignity and respect
(use of the colour purple).

Developed by staff internally within the Trust, the
website features the new brand along with a range of
staff portraits, presenting the face of our workforce.
Along with extensive descriptions of our services for a
range of different audiences, there are Help and Advice
sections for service uses and carers and news stories as
well as a chief executive’s blog.
Improvements have been made in internal
communications, including a revamped and renamed
newsletter, Grapevine, which has four issues for staff
and two for staff and the wider Foundation Trust
membership.

3.19 Financial Outlook
The financial projections for the Trust for the period
2010/11 to 2012/13 are shown in Table 12 opposite.
These are based on the following inflation and cost
assumptions, shown in Table 13 opposite. Further
assumptions are as follows:
The brand was successfully launched in January 2010
at Freddy’s Café in Edward Street Hospital to staff and
service users. Guidelines have been produced to ensure
that information we produce, whether that be on the
website; posters; leaflets; etc is available in a clear, easy
to understand format for our stakeholders (including
service users; carers; members; governors and partner
organisations). Work to further standardise using the
Trust’s new brand will continue in 2010/11.
In March 2010, the new Trust website was launched in
a fresher, more engaging format and can be accessed
at www.smhft.nhs.uk.
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• Transfer of Block contract income to cost & volume
income during 2012/13 in line with planned
timescales for the implementation of a local payment
by results (PbR) tariff
• Expected disinvestment in Substance Misuse Service
and Learning Disability Group Homes Service
• Although the Trust has been identified as the
preferred provider for some additional mental health
and learning disability services as part of the
Transforming Community Services process, these
have not been included in the projections due to the
lack of robust, detailed costing information at this
stage.
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Table 12: Financial Projections 2010/11 to 2012/13
2010/11 (£M)

2011/12 (£M)

2012/13 (£M)

Income

50.9

48

47.6

Operating Expenses

48.4

45.3

45.1

EBITDA

2.5

2.7

2.5

(EBITDA margin)

(5%)

(5.7%)

(5.2%)

Depreciation & dividend

-1.9

-1.9

-1.8

Anticipated loss on disposal

-0.3

0

0

Surplus

0.3

0.8

0.7

(Surplus margin)

(1.3%)

(1.8%)

(1.5%)

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

0%
0%

0%
0%

-1%
-1%

Pay cost inflation
Incremental drift
Drug inflation
PFI inflation
Other inflation

2.25%
£220K
5%
5%
3%

1%
£220K
5%
5%
3%

1%
£220K
5%
5%
3%

Other increases:
National Insurance (c.0.5%)
Value Added Tax (2.5%)
Pension (est. 2% on 50% of staff)

£93K
£100K
-

£116K
£100K
£185K

£185K

Table 13: Key Assumptions in Financial Projections 2010/11 to 2012/2013

Income
Income inflation
PFI inflation
Cost
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The anticipated financial risk ratings resulting from the
projections are shown in Table 14 below.

efficiencies whilst building upon the quality of services
provided. Table 15 below shows the level of planned
efficiencies required over the next three years.

The financial forecasts have been developed in
consultation with budget holders based on prior year
performance and taking account of service changes
highlighted in the Trust’s Business Plan.

In response to the expected efficiency requirement, the
Trust has developed plans that are expected to produce
recurrent savings; the key areas are shown in Table 16
opposite.

The Trust is actively preparing for Payment by Results
(PbR) for mental health in line with the Department of
Health’s timetable. During 2010/11 the Trust will be
collecting mental health “currency” information in
addition to that required to service contracts already in
place. The Trust’s Clinical Information System is fully
able to respond to these changes as PbR is further
refined.

The Trust is actively exploring areas for joint working
with NHS and other organisations in order to improve
value for money of back office functions and
infrastructure developments to support this.
The Trust is able to confirm that there are no significant
issues since the balance sheet date that have had an
impact on the Foundation Trust accounts.

Service Line Reporting will complement the changes to
the contracting systems and enable Trust management
to respond effectively to the challenges this will
inevitably bring. This in turn will provide the intelligence
to inform future cost improvement plans.
Given the general economic climate, the future
financial health of the Trust will depend significantly on
the ability to identify and secure recurring cost

As far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the auditors are unaware,
and that the Directors have taken all of the steps that
they ought to have taken as Directors in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and
to establish that the auditors are aware of that
information.

Table 14: Anticipated Financial Risk Ratings 2010/2011 to 2012/13
Weighting

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

EBITDA margin

25%

5.03%

3

5.68%

3

5.23%

3

EBITDA plan

10%

100%

5

100%

5

100%

5

ROA

20%

6.07%

5

6.61%

5

5.84%

4

I & E surplus margin

20%

1.29%

3

1.8%

3

1.47%

3

Liquidity ratio

25%

33.05%

4

42.88

4

48.72

4

Weighted average

3.9

3.9

3.7

Risk Score

4

4

4

Table 15: Efficiency Savings Required 2010/11 to 2012/13
2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

Cost Efficiencies (£m)

2.3

2.0

2.0

As a % of relevant Operating Cost*

4.8%

4.4%

4.4%

*NB This excludes PFI costs
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Table 16: Planned Efficiency Savings 2010/2011 to 2012/13
2010/11 £M

2011/12 £M 2012/13 £M Comments

Service Line management 0.6

0.8

0.9

Plans are being identified through
the service line project group to
improve capacity and efficiency
management with the emphasis on
services with unsufficing
contribution supported by the
productivity improvement and
pathway programme and lean
methodologies

Medical redesign

0.2

0.1

0.1

Review and refresh of clinical
strategy to impact on the redesign
of all services

Income generation

0.4

0.1

0.1

Delivery of CQUIN within current
resource. Activity performance
targets set and managed by clinical
teams

Corporate efficiency

0.3

0.3

0.3

Ensure that efficiency requirements
are applied fairly to non-service
areas; Extension of lean principles
supported by review of
benchmarking information; Review
of contracts and negotiation of bulk
deals across the Trust and health
economy

Workforce

0.8

0.3

0.3

Review of workforce profile;
Increase the level of part-time
resource without back-filling; Full
implementations of Roster
Management

0.4

0.3

Service developments expected to
be implemented without
requirement for overhead and
indirect costs realising full benefits
of economies of scale

2.0

2.0

Economies of scale on
service developments

Total

2.3
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We operate in a constantly changing market and
operational environment, and have highlighted some
of the key areas to affect us during 2009/10 below.

tariff would begin for mental health is 2013/14
• New thinking required: emphasis on care pathways
and on joint working
• Service redesign is imperative

Economic climate

Sandwell PCT commissioning intentions

Significant economic problems continued during the
year, which we expect to have an increasing impact on
our finances during the next 2-3 years. We are aware
of our position as a major employer in the local area,
and our 2010/11 Annual Plan sets out the way in
which are planning for more challenging financial times
ahead.

Sandwell PCT outlined its broad commissioning
intentions in December 2009, which recognised that
future resource will be considerably tighter than has
been the case in previous years and that a more realistic
and prudent approach would be pursued. As a result,
they moved away from the recent “bidding culture”
approach, as no resource existed for investment
without redesign or reform. There was therefore no
opportunity to bid for new service developments.
However, the PCT actively sought to engage with
partners and providers to consider alternatives which
may include save to invest and redesign opportunities,
and the Trust worked with the PCT to develop a
psychiatric liaison proposal on this basis.

3.20 Market / Operating Environment

Transforming Community Services
This national policy required Primary Care Trusts to
agree the future organisational future of their provider
arms. As a general rule the Secretary of State’s principle
of the NHS as ‘preferred provider’ was followed, with a
limited number of potential Community Foundation
Trusts. Following agreement, the changes have to be
implemented by March 2011. Within the Black
Country, Wolverhampton PCT provides mental health
services, whilst Dudley, Walsall and Wolverhampton
PCTs all provide specialist health learning disability
services. The Trust has been named as preferred
provider for all these services and the integration of
these services into the Trust are included in our forward
planning.
PCTs have indicated their intention to continue with the
integration of learning disability services and
Wolverhampton’s mental health services into the Trust
even if there is a change in policy direction as a result of
the new coalition Conservative-Liberal Government.

National policy direction
The Operating Framework for 2010/11 was published
in December 2009 by the Department of Health. Along
with the White Paper ‘From Good to Great’, the key
messages from this were:
• Average 5.5% increase in PCT budget but real-terms
funding freeze for frontline services with cuts to the
remainder in the next two years.
• PCTs to agree proposals for PCT provided community
services by March 2010
• Emphasis on increased service productivity; pressure
to reduce their back office costs
• 0% uplift to the national tariff. CQUIN payment will
rise to 1.5 % of contract value
• New currency for adult mental health services
available for local use in 2010/11. Earliest national
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Personal health / individual budgets
The agenda to give greater control of health funding to
individual patients continues to develop, with the key
policy imperatives currently being:
• Development of individualised care packages
involving recipients in the design, delivery and ongoing evaluation of them.
• Patients given control over a direct payment or an
indicative fund of money. Users can form care
packages that suit their own needs.
• Requires different relationship between care provider
and person receiving care.
• Good for people’s health because of control and
empowerment they afford patients
• Potential to improve integration of health and social
care
• Estimated that a quarter of the mental health budget
could be put in the hands of individuals

3.21 Developments planned
Our Annual Plan sets out our service development
plans for 2010/11 and beyond. A summary of
proposals follows:

High Dependency Rehabilitation Unit
Work is progressing well on this new inpatient service.
When finished, the 12-bedded unit will provide care for
people with serious, long-term mental health problems
who require a longer than average stay in hospital and
who need intensive support to get better. Patients at
the unit will receive a range of services such as
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psychiatry, psychology, speech and language therapy,
occupational therapy and physiotherapy, to help them
build their social and life skills and enable them to
return home when they are ready. The unit will be
operational by December 2010.

Looking forward, the Board of Directors has identified
the following risks, for which mitigation plans have
been agreed.

Improved Access to Psychological Therapies
(IAPT)

Strategic

We are working with commissioners to develop the
high intensity element of this new service, which will
provide Talking Therapies within Sandwell. The Trust will
provide the high intensity therapeutic input and
Sandwell MIND have been commissioned to provide the
low intensity service component.

Learning Disability acute assessment / Intensive
Support Team
We are reviewing our inpatient service and working
with commissioners to enhance community-based
services. The aim will be to provide more support people
for people with learning disabilities who need specialist
health care where they live and avoid hospital admission
if possible.

Enhanced Psychiatric Liaison in Sandwell
General Acute Hospital
We have developed a business case to improve the
service that we offer to the general hospital and are
working with commissioners on the development of this

Transforming Community Services
The Trust is named as preferred provider for the
following services and will be working with the
respective Primary Care Trusts to integrate and develop
these services during 2010/11:
• Wolverhampton PCT Mental Health and Learning
Disability Services
• Walsall PCT Learning Disability Services
• Dudley PCT Learning Disability Services
• Sandwell Safeguarding Team (PCT Provider Arm)

3.22 Risks
Our robust governance arrangements provide for the
ongoing identification, assessment and management of
strategic, financial and operational risk.
The Board of Directors regularly reviews those risks
assessed as having a high potential to compromise the
ability of the Trust both to operate within its terms of
authorisation and to deliver its strategic objectives.

3.22.1 Details of Principal Risks

• Increased competition may be seen as moving
away from NHS preferred provider policy, and may
adversely affect acquisition plans
• The recent change in government may radically
alter NHS policy and require a review of the
strategic direction and plans of the Trust
• A potential review of public sector pension
schemes may result in premature retirements and
shortage of key skills and knowledge across all
functions
• The restructuring of local health boundaries for
NHS West Midlands may limit the opportunities to
extend service provision beyond existing
geographical boundaries
• The decision to restrict future entrance to the
Nursing profession to graduates may discourage
existing/future employees from pursuing a nursing
career, and result in skills shortages
• An increasingly ageing and ethnically diverse
population will pose additional pressures on
already scarce resources and may have a
detrimental impact on service provision
• The absence of, and/or inadequately funded
commissioning strategies may impair the ability to
deliver service developments and high quality care
• The Trust may not have the organisational capacity
to both deliver the service development plans and
maintain current service provision
• The planned acquisition of services under the
“Transforming Community Services” initiative may
not pass due diligence tests
• The ongoing, and recognised under investment,
when compared to regional and national
benchmarks, in mental health services by local
commissioners may create additional pressure on
the quality and range of services.
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Financial
• Zero growth over the coming three years
necessitates a need to produce significantly
increased efficiencies, which may impair service
delivery
• The absence of a tariff system for mental health
services could result in commissioners squeezing
Mental Health and Learning Disability service
contracts and investment plans
• Commissioners’ decisions to tender those services
the Trust currently provides that make a positive
contribution, may destabilise the financial viability
of the Trust and potentially impair other mandatory
services
• The transaction costs of preparing tenders and
performing due diligence may have a negative
short term impact on the overall financial position
of the Trust
• Potential economies of scale offered by
developments and acquisitions may be delayed or
not realised at all, thereby increasing pressure on
current service provision
• As with any major building construction scheme
there is a risk that completion of the new High
Dependency Rehabilitation Unit may slip beyond
planned timescales, and therefore both incur
additional costs and reduce income.

Operational
• The decisions of commissioners to tender certain
services the Trust currently provides may potentially
impair the provision of other mandatory services
• The change programme for the re-provision of
Learning Disability Community Homes service may
not have been adequately funded by the
Commissioners and may result in clients being 'stuck'
in transition receiving poor quality care
• The profile of the current workforce may not be
flexible enough to meet the demands of changes to
the service models
• The Trust may not maintain compliance against the
standards for registration with the Care Quality
Commission
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• The Trust may not be able to maintain compliance
with its terms of authorisation, and specifically meet
the new performance targets.

3.23 Statement as to disclosure to
Auditors
As far as the directors are aware:
• the directors have taken all the steps they ought to
have in order to both make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information, and to establish the
auditors are aware of such information, and
• there is no relevant audit information of which the
auditors are unaware.

3.24 Going Concern
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Trust has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. For this reason, the directors will continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
accounts of the Trust.

4 Remuneration Report

Sue Marshall, Associate Director of Care Governance
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4.1 The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is a sub-committee of
the Board of Directors and its membership is comprised
wholly of Non Executive Directors. The Committee’s
primary function is to set the remuneration and terms
of conditions for Executive Directors and for other very
senior management posts that are not covered by the
nationally negotiated Agenda for Change or Medical
Staff frameworks. During 2009/10 the Committee:
• agreed a new policy for the remuneration of
Executive Directors and other very senior managers
• agreed a cost of living increase of 2.4% to the
salaries of Executive Directors and other very senior
management, in line with the inflationary increase
awarded under the nationally negotiated Agenda for
Change framework.
No Executive Directors held Non Executive Directorships
at other bodies during 2009/10
Membership and attendance of Committee meetings
during the year is provided in Table 1 opposite.

4.2 Salaries and Allowances
See Table 2 opposite.

4.3 Pensions
See Table 3 overleaf.

As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable
remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of
pensions for Non-Executive members.
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the
actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme
benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in
time. The benefits valued are the member's accrued
benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable
from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a
pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement
when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to
transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that
the individual has accrued as a consequence of their
total membership of the pension scheme, not just their
service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure
applies. The CETV figures, and from 2005-06 the other
pension details, include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the
individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.
They also include any additional pension benefit
accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing
additional years of pension service in the scheme at
their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute
and Faculty of Actuaries.
Real Increase in CETV - This reflects the increase in
CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes
account of the increase in accrued pension due to
inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including
the value of any benefits transferred from another
pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common
market valuation factors for the start and end of the
period.

Chief Executive
Date: 7th June 2010
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Table 1: The Remuneration Committee

Name

Attendance (Actual/Possible)

Mrs Anita Gosain (Chair)

3/3

Mr Bob Piper

3/3

Mrs Jackie Smart

1/3

Mr Bryan Stock

2/3

Table 2: Salaries and Allowances 2009/10
Salary
(bands of £5K)

Other
Remuneration
(bands of £5K)

Benefits
in Kind

Name

Position

£K

£K

Nearest £100

Mr. B Piper

Chairman

25-30

0

100

Ms. K Dowman

Chief Executive Officer

115-120

0

900

Mr. P Stefanoski

Director of Resources and
Deputy Chief Executive
Officer

90-95

0

1300

Mr. A Green

Director of Organisational
Governance and Trust
Secretary

80-85

0

700

Mr. J Campbell

Director of Strategic
80-85
Planning, Business
Development & Partnership

0

1900

Mr. A Duffell

Director of Workforce

70-75

0

300

Mr. R Taylor

Service Delivery Director

80-85

0

0

Ms. S Marshall

Associate Director of Care
Governance

95-100

0

100

Mr. R Taylor

Director of Nursing

80-85

0

0

Mr. A Craig

Associate Director of Social
Care

50-55

0

0

Dr. S Edwards

Medical Director

25-30

150-155

600

Mrs. A Gosain

Non Executive Director

5-10

0

200

Mrs. V Harris

Non Executive Director

5-10

0

200

Ms. J Smart

Non Executive Director

5-10

0

200

Mr. P Riley

Non Executive Director

5-10

0

100

Mr. B Stock

Non Executive Director

5-10

0

200
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Table 3: Pensions 2009/10
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Real increase in
pension at age 60

Real increase in
pension lump
sum at age 60

Total accrued
pension at age 60
at 31 March 2010

Name

(bands of £2500)
£000

(bands of £2500)
£000

(bands of £2500)
£000

Ms K Dowman
Chief Executive

0-2.5

0-2.5

45-50

Mr P Stefanoski
Director of Resources

0-2.5

0-2.5

10-15

Dr S Edwards
Medical Director

-2.5-0

-7.5-5

65-70

Mr A Green
Director of Corporate Governance
and Trust Secretary

0-2.5

0-2.5

30-35

Mr R Taylor
Director of Service Delivery

0-2.5

2.5-5

35-40

Ms S Marshall
Associate Director of Care Governance

0-2.5

0-2.5

30-35

Mr A Duffell
Director of Workforce

0-2.5

5-7.5

5-10

Mr J Campbell
Director of Strategic Planning, Business
Development
& Partnership

0-2.5

0-2.5

15-20

Mr A Craig
Associate Director of Social Care

15-17.5

50-52.5

20-25
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Total lump sum at
age 60 related to
accrued pension
at 31 March 2010

Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value at
31 March 2010

Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value at
31 March 2009

Real Increase in
Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value

Employers
Contribution to
Stakeholder
Pension

(bands of £2500)
£000

£000

£000

£000

To nearest £100

140-145

1,076

976

51

-

40-45

213

183

21

-

205-210

1,655

1,554

24

-

90-95

594

534

34

-

115-120

838

738

64

-

100-105

674

598

47

-

20-25

144

98

41

-

55-60

265

233

21

-

70-75

576

16

559

-
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5 Statement of
Accounting Officer’s
Responsibilities

Gary Sawuck, Manager of the Year 2009, receiving
his award from Karen Dowman, Chief Executive
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the accounting
officer of Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust
The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHS foundation trust.
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and
regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts,
are set out in the accounting officers’ Memorandum issued by the Independent Regulator of NHS
Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).
Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed the Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the
basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation
Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the
financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:
• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and disclosure
requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS foundation trust Financial
Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the
financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS foundation trust and to enable
him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements outlined in the above mentioned
Act. The Accounting officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS foundation trust
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
To the best of knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in Monitor’s
NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Chief Executive Officer
Dated 7th June 2010
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6 Statement on
Internal Control

Nurse at Edward Street Hospital
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Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the NHS Foundation
Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets
for which I am personally responsible, in accordance
with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also
responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust
is administered prudently and economically and that
resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of internal
control
The system of internal control is designed to manage
risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it
can therefore only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of
internal control is based on an ongoing process
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those
risks being realised, and the impact should they be
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively
and economically. The system of internal control has
been in place in Sandwell Mental Health and Social
Care NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31st
March 2010 and up to the date of approval of the
annual report and accounts.

Capacity to handle risk
The Trust is committed to ensuring that risk
management forms an integral part of its philosophy,
practices and development, where responsibility for its
application and implementation is accepted at all levels
within the organisation.
At a collective level, the Board of Directors is
responsible for approving the risk management
strategy and monitoring and reviewing its
implementation. I as the Chief Executive Officer, have
overall responsibility for establishing internal control
systems and have delegated certain risk management
responsibilities to Executive Directors, and other senior
managers within the Trust. Governance arrangements
within the Trust provide for the identification,
assessment, analysis and management of risk at
appropriate levels representing a systematic approach
to risk management and thus enabling a fair,

responsible and learning culture to develop.
Staff at all levels are required to attend mandatory and
statutory training courses relating to key elements of
risk management and staff are provided with risk
management training information at corporate and
local induction sessions. More specific training (for
example physical intervention skills) appropriate to
individual roles and responsibilities is provided in
accordance with the risk management and learning
and development strategies of the Trust. Staff also
have access to risk specialists employed by the Trust in
functions such as Health and Fire Safety, Infection
Control, Data Protection, Complaints and General Risk
Management.
The Trust seeks to learn from good practice in a
number of ways including incident reporting and
reviews, complaints and claims management and the
review of safety alerts, the outcomes of which are
cascaded through the Trust’s governance structure and
through the publication of regular bulletins via the
Trust intranet and email system. Consequent
improvements to systems and practice are included
within service quality improvement plans.

The risk and control framework
The Risk Management Strategy, which was last
reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors in
November 2008, describes in detail the approach to
risk management and defines clearly where
responsibility lies at each stage of the process.
All staff are required to report risk, including hazards
that they encounter in their work, through welldefined incident reporting procedures. Risks are also
identified from the review of complaints, both formal
and informal, and through audit and research projects.
Management’s review of functional control systems
against mandated and other standards of good
practice and the ongoing assessment of our
performance against plans provide mechanisms for the
identification of clinical, operational, financial, strategic
and external risks.
Once identified, the risks are recorded and evaluated
for their potential to adversely affect service delivery
and the objectives of the Trust. Evaluation of the risk
assesses both the likelihood of the occurrence and the
consequence of the risk being realised, using the risk
matrix adapted from the Australian/New Zealand risk
management standard (AS/NZS 4360:1999). The
descriptions allocated to each level of likelihood and
consequence, enable a consistent approach to risk
evaluation across the Trust.
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The authority to treat risk is determined by the level of
risk assigned, and treatment plans will be reviewed
and monitored at relevant managerial levels, both
individually, e.g. Service Manager or Director, and
collectively, e.g. Directorate Management Team or
Operation Risk Group.
Those risks which are assessed as high level are
reported on a regular basis to the Executive
Committee, a sub-committee of the Board of Directors
via the High Level Risk Register, which also includes
reference to the risk mitigation plans and assessment
of the residual risk. This process enables ongoing
review and confirmation of the high level risks and
progress with mitigation.
The Board of Directors have identified a number of key
risks which are to be managed during the coming year,
and these are detailed elsewhere within the annual
report. However of those the most significant risks
include:
• inability to generate efficiency savings to the level
required, without impairing the quality of service
provision
• inability to maintain compliance against the service
delivery targets within the prescribed compliance
framework
• the possibility that the Trust may not have the
organisational capacity to both deliver the service
development plans and maintain current service
provision to expected standards.
A director has been assigned for each risk and will lead
in the delivery of the mitigation plans. The High Level
Risk Register is regularly reviewed by the Board of
Directors, and reports to the Board of Directors and its
sub committees require the identification and
assessment of risk to be included for consideration.
The High Level Risk Register is also reviewed by and
discussed with the local Primary Care Trust as host
service commissioner through service quality review
meetings.
The Board of Directors also review and approve the
Assurance Framework, which identifies the principal
objectives being pursued in furtherance of each
strategic objective, and those principal risks likely to
compromise realisation of the objective. In each case
the Board of Directors reviews those controls in place
to mitigate the risks, and the source of assurance for
each. Any gaps in control or assurance are identified
and action plans put in place to address the gaps. The
assurance framework, and the supporting processes
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for its production and review, is then subject to
independent review by Internal Audit.
On a quarterly basis, both the Executive and Quality
Assurance Committees receive and review reports
which provide an overview of risk management
activity, including incident reporting and analysis,
investigations into serious untoward incidents and
complaints management.
The Audit Committee has responsibility to review the
adequacy of the organisational systems of risk
management and internal control and the assurance
framework.
Both the Quality Assurance Committee and Finance
Committee undertake assurance of the high level risks
through their business agendas, the outcome of which
is regularly reported to the Board. The Quality
Assurance Committee also has a specific duty to
review the adequacy of arrangements the Trust has in
place to meet the required standards of Information
Governance, as mandated by the Department of
Health.
The Trust has put in place appropriate governance
arrangements for data and information security in
accordance with the standards laid out within the
national Information Governance Framework. The
roles of Caldicott Guardian and Senior Information
Responsible Officer are both undertaken by Executive
Directors of the Trust and the job requirements of
other key corporate officers include relevant
responsibilities associated with information and data
security. Staff within the Trust receive relevant training
at induction and throughout their employment. Any
incidents and/or risks associated with data and
information security are reported and dealt with in
accordance with the Trust risk management and
incident reporting policies.
The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the core
Standards for Better Health.
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of
the NHS Pension Scheme control measures are in place
to ensure all employer obligations contained within the
Scheme Regulations are complied with. This includes
ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s
contributions and payments into the Scheme are in
accordance with the Scheme’s rules and that member
Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in
accordance with the timescales detailed in the
Regulations.
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Control measures are in place to ensure that all the
organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity
and human rights legislation are complied with.

The production of the Annual Quality Report has been
led by the Associate Director of Care Governance, with
input from other officers as required.

The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk
assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans are
in place in accordance with emergency preparedness
and civil contingency requirements, as based on
UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this
organisation’s responsibilities under the Climate
Change Act and the Adaption Reporting
requirements are complied with.

An initial version of the report was presented to and
reviewed by both the Audit and Quality Assurance
Committees. Subsequently, the approved report was
submitted, in accordance with the aforementioned
regulations, to Sandwell Primary Care Trust, as the
main commissioner, for its confirmation as to whether
the report contained accurate information in relation
to the services provided by the Trust. This statement is
included in the body of the Quality Report.

Review of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness of the use of resources
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring
systems are in place to maintain the economic,
efficient and effective use of resources within the
Trust. The Executive Committee, a sub-committee of
the Board, consisting of Executive Directors, Clinical
and Service Directors meets on a monthly basis to
review the performance of the Trust, against the
agreed financial, contractual, service and quality
targets as set by the Board of Directors.

In addition, and again in accordance with the
regulations, the Trust submitted the Quality Report to
both the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board of
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council and the
Sandwell Local Involvement Network for their review
and comments. A response was received from
Sandwell’s Overview and Scrutiny Management Board
and this is also included in the body of the report.

The Finance Committee reviews and assures the
rationale and adequacy of investment and cost
improvement plans, and their potential impact on the
effectiveness of service provision.

The Quality Strategy, outlines the Trust’s approach to
quality management and improvement, and
establishes the Quality Council, whose membership
includes governors and members of the Trust, and
whose function is to oversee its ongoing development
and implementation.

An integrated performance report, covering finance,
workforce, compliance targets, contractual targets
and service line activity is regularly presented to the
Board of Directors, which in turn approves the
quarterly compliance report for submission to
Monitor, the Independent Regulator.

During the year the Board of Directors has received
regular monitoring information relating to quality
metrics as part of the integrated performance
monitoring report, some of which feature as
performance targets against which the Trust has
declared full compliance with.

The Audit Committee receives regular reports from
the Internal Auditors concerning their review of
internal control systems and procedures and progress
in implementation of recommendations, and also
receives regular updates from the Local Counter
Fraud Specialist.

It has not been necessary to introduce or amend any
policy within the Trust, nor employ any additional staff
to assist with the production or maintenance of the
Quality Report.

Annual Quality Report

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control. My review of the effectiveness of the system
of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors and executive managers within the
NHS Foundation Trust who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the internal control
framework, and comments made by the external
auditors in their management letter and other reports.
I have been advised of the implications of the result of

The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009
and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts)
Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for
each financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to
NHS foundation trust boards on the form and
content of annual Quality Reports which incorporate
the above legal requirements in the NHS Foundation
Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

Review of Effectiveness
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my review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control by the Board, the Audit Committee,
the Quality Assurance Committee and the Finance
Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and
ensure continuous improvement of the system is in
place.
In particular the process applied in maintaining and
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control includes the following:

With regard to the specific processes applied in
maintaining and reviewing the Quality Report, over
and above those cited above, these include:
• The regular reports on quality metrics to the Board
of Directors
• The establishment and work of the Quality Council
• The establishment and implementation of the
Quality Strategy

Conclusion
• The regular reviews of the High Level Risk Register,
and the Assurance Framework by the Board of
Directors
• The work of the Audit Committee and in particular
its assurance of the adequacy of internal controls
• The Quality Assurance Committee’s of assurance of
the self assessment for the annual health check
declaration against core standards, and the review
of our assessment against Information Governance
standards
• The review in year by the Board of Directors of the
arrangements in place and evidence produced to
meet the requirements for registration with the Care
Quality Commission
• The subsequent notification of registration without
conditions granted by the Care Quality Commission
• The role of the Finance Committee in both assuring
the adequacy of plans to mitigate high level
business, financial and strategic risks, and reviewing
the financial and performance reports and forecasts
• The ongoing application of the risk management
strategy and process by Executive Directors and
other senior management
• The interim report of the External Auditor
• The work of Internal Audit and specifically the
annual Head of Internal Audit opinion which states
“that significant assurance can be given that there is
a generally sound system of control designed to
meet the organisations objectives, and that controls
are generally being applied consistently”
• The reports of external inspection agencies, such as
the Care Quality ( formerly Mental Health Act )
Commission
• The ongoing programme of work to ensure
compliance with the Risk Management standards as
mandated by the NHS Litigation Authority
• The work programme of the Local Counter Fraud
Specialist
• A review of the adult safeguarding and child
protection arrangements.

62

There are no significant internal control issues that
have either been identified during the reporting
period, or anticipated to occur in the future that
require disclosure in this statement.

Chief Executive Officer
Dated 7th June 2010

7 Accounts and
Associated Notes

Trust staff writing good will messages on site at the
High Dependency Rehabilitation Unit
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Foreword to the Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2010
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust is required to “keep accounts in such form as Monitor (The
Independent Regulator for NHS Foundation Trusts) may with the approval of Treasury direct" (Paragraph 24 (1) Schedule 7
of the National Health Service Act 2006).
The Trust is required to “prepare in respect of each financial year annual accounts in such form as Monitor may with the
approval of the Treasury direct” (Paragraph25 (1) Schedule 7 to the 2006 Act).
In preparing their annual accounts, the Trust must comply with any directions given by Monitor, with the approval of the
Treasury, as to the methods and principles according to which the accounts are to be prepared and the information to be
given in the accounts (Paragraph 25 (2) Schedule 7 to the 2006 Act).

Chief Executive

Statement Of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 31 March 2010
Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

Note

£’ 000

£’ 000

7.2.2

48,063

8,022

Other operating income

7.3

2,452

400

Operating expenses

7.4

(49,523)

(8,091)

992

331

106

0

1,098

331

12

3

0

0

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD

1,110

334

Public dividend capital dividends payable

(989)

(191)

121

143

(2,454)

(173)

(42)

0

(695)

0

(3,070)

(30)

Revenue from activities

OPERATING SURPLUS
Gain on disposal of fixed asset

7.9

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) BEFORE FINANCING
Finance income
Finance cost

RETAINED SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD

7.10

Other comprehensive income
Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment
losses for property, plant and equipment
Reduction in the donated asset reserve in
respect of depreciation and impairment losses
Additions/(reduction) in pension reserve
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE)
FOR THE PERIOD
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2010
Year ended
31 March 2009

Year ended
31 March 2010

As at
February 2009

Note

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

Intangible assets

7.12

27

40

43

Property, plant and equipment

7.13

25,815

28,599

28,901

25,842

28,639

28,944

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables

7.15

3,598

3,639

3,465

Cash and cash equivalents

7.16

4,912

2,386

2,559

8,510

6,025

6,024

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

7.17

(5,092)

(4,610)

(5,539)

Other liabilities

7.18

(871)

(111)

(76)

(5,963)

(4,721)

(5,615)

2,547

1,304

409

28,389

29,943

29,353

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Local government pension liability

7.17

(1,123)

(373)

(373)

Provisions for liabilities and charges

7.17

(92)

(125)

(131)

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

(1,215)

(498)

(504)

TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED

27,174

29,445

28,849

Public dividend capital

16,246

14,146

13,646

Revaluation reserve

10,638

14,428

14,601

336

378

378

(947)

(252)

(252)

901

745

746

27,174

29,445

28,849

FINANCED BY:
TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY

Donated asset reserve
Local government pension reserve
Income and expenditure reserve
TOTAL TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY

The financial statements on pages 62 63 were approved by the Board on
26th May 2010 and signed on its
behalf by:

Chief Executive, 7th June 2010

Finance Director, 7th June 2010
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity As At 31 March 2010
Public
dividend
capital

Revaluation
reserve

Donated
asset
reserve

Pension
reserve

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000 £’ 000

14,146

14,428

378

(252)

745 29,445

Surplus/(deficit) for the year

0

0

0

0

Revaluation gains/(losses) and
impairment losses for property,
plant and equipment

0

(2,454)

0

0

0 (2,454)

Reduction in the donated asset
reserve in respect of
depreciation and impairment
losses

0

0

(42)

0

0

(42)

Additions/(reduction) in pension
reserve

0

0

(695)

0

(695)

Public dividend capital received

2,100

0

0

0

0

2,100

Transfers to the income and
expenditure account in respect
of assets disposed of

0

(1,301)

0

0

0 (1,301)

Other transfers between reserves

0

(35)

0

0

16,246

10,638

336

(947)

Taxpayers’ equity 1 April 2009

Taxpayers’ equity at 31 March 2010
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Income
and
expenditure
reserve

121

35

Total

121

0

901 27,174
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 March 2010
Year ended
31 March 2010

2 months period
31 March 2009

£000

£000

Operating surplus/(deficit) from
operating activities

1,098

331

OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

1,098

331

Depreciation and amortisation

691

171

Impairments

612

0

41

(227)

1,229

(506)

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities

760

111

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

(33)

(6)

4

0

Other movements in operating cash flows

(730)

0

NET CASH GENERATED FROM / (USED IN)
OPERATIONS

3,672

(126)

12

3

(2,421)

(239)

152

0

(2,257)

(236)

PDC dividend capital received

2,100

500

PDC dividend paid

(989)

(191)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

1,111

309

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

2,526

(53)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
1 APRIL 2009

2,386

2,439

4,912

2,386

Note

CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NON-CASH INCOME AND EXPENSE

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

Tax (paid) received

CASHFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Sales of property, plant and equipment
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASHFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
31 MARCH 2010

7.16
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7.1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
7.1.2 Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
International Financial Reporting Committee (IFRIC)
interpretations as endorsed by the European Union,
applicable at 31 March 2010 and appropriate to Sandwell
Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust. This is
the first set of full year results prepared in accordance with
IFRS accounting policies.
The Trust’s previously reported 2008/09 financial statements
have been restated accordingly to comply with IFRS, with the
date of transition being 1st February 2009, which is the
beginning of the comparative period for the year to 31
March 2010.
The principle effects of the adoption of IFRS are detailed in
the reconciliation of taxpayers’ equity (assets employed) and
retained surplus under UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice to IFRS stated in Note 24.

7.1.5 Expenditure on Employee Benefits: Short-term
employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are
recognised in the period in which the service is received from
employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but
not taken by employees at the end of the period is
recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the
following period.
7.1.6 Pension costs
NHS Pension Scheme
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of
the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable
under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions
website at www.pensions.nhsba.nhs.uk. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS
employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed
under the direction of Secretary of State, in England and
Wales.

Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS
foundation trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of
the NHS Foundation Trust Financial Reporting Manual which
shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the 2009/10 NHS Foundation Trust Financial
Reporting Manual issued by Monitor.

The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would
enable the NHS foundation trust to identify its share of the
underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is
accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. The cost to
the Trust of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to
the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting
period. Employer’s pension cost contributions are charged to
operating expenses as and when they become due.

The accounting policies contained in that manual follow
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they
are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts.
The accounting policies have been applied consistently in
dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are
not funded by the scheme except where the retirement is
due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the
time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of
the method of payment.

7.1.3 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost
convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories
and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

Local Government Superannuation Scheme
Some employees are members of the Local Government
Superannuation Scheme which is a defined benefit pension
scheme. The scheme assets and liabilities attributable to
these employees can be identified and are recognised in the
Trust’s accounts. The assets are measured at fair value, and
the liabilities at the present value of future obligations.

7.1.4 Income recognition
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when,
and to the extent that, performance occurs and is measured
at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main
source of income for the trust is contracts with
commissioners in respect of healthcare services and the main
types of income this relates to are cost and volume income,
block contract income and clinical partnerships providing
mandatory services.
Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be
delivered in the following financial year, that income is
deferred.
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Staff who transferred to the Care Trust on 01.04.2003 from
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council contribute to a
funded, defined benefit scheme administered by the West
Midlands Metropolitan Authorities Pension Fund. From 1
April 2009 to March 2010, the Care Trust paid employer's
contribution of 13.4%. The contribution rate is determined
by the Fund's actuary based on 3 yearly valuations, with the
last review being 31 March 2007.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four
years. Between the full valuations the scheme is subject to an
IAS 19 Employee Benefits valuation every year. An outline of
these follows.
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The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability
in respect of the benefits due under the scheme taking into
account its recent demographic experience and to
recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers
and scheme members. The last such valuation, which
determined current contribution rates, was undertaken as at
31 March 2004 and covered the period from 1 April 1999 to
that date.
The conclusion from the 2004 valuation was that the
Scheme had accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3 billion
against the notional assets as at 31 March 2004. However,
after taking into account the changes in the benefit and
contribution structure effective from 1 April 2008, the
Scheme actuary reported that employer contributions could
continue at the existing rate of 14% of pensionable pay.
On advice from the Scheme actuary, scheme contributions
may be varied from time to time to reflect changes in the
scheme's liabilities. Up to 31 March 2008, the vast majority
of employees paid contributions at the rate of 6%
pensionable pay. From 1 April 2008, employee’s
contributions are on a tiered scale from 5% up to 8.5% of
their pensionable pay depending on total earnings.
In accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits, a valuation of
the Scheme liability is carried out annually by the Scheme
Actuary as at the Statement of Financial Position date by
updating the results of the full actuarial valuation.
Between the full actuarial valuations at a two-year midpoint,
a full and detailed member data-set is provided to the
Scheme Actuary. At this point the assumptions regarding the
composition of the Scheme membership are updated to
allow the Scheme liability to be valued.
The valuation of the Scheme liability as at 31 March 2008 is
based on detailed membership data as at 31 March 2006
(the latest midpoint) updates to 31 March 2008 with
summary global member and accounting data.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the Scheme is
contained in the Scheme Actuary Report, which forms part
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales)
Resource Account, published annually. These accounts can
be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be
obtained from the Stationery Office.
Further information can be found in the Pension Fund's
Annual Report, which is available on request from The West
Midlands Metropolitan Authorities Pensions Fund, c/o
Wolverhampton City Council, Civic Suite, St Peter's Square,
Wolverhampton, WV1 1SL.

Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in
the pensions reserve and reported in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive
income’.
Scheme Provisions as at 31 March 2008
The Scheme is a "final salary" scheme. Annual pensions are
normally based on 1/80th of the best of the last 3 years
pensionable pay for each year of service. A lump sum
normally equivalent to 3 years pension is payable on
retirement.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates
defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971 and are based
on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30
September in a previous calendar year. On death, a pension
of 50% of the member's pension is normally payable to the
surviving spouse.
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available
to members of the Scheme who are permanently incapable
of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity.
A death gratuity of twice the final year's pensionable pay for
death after retirement, less pension already paid, subject to a
maximum amount equal to twice the member's final year's
pensionable pay less their retirement lump sum for those
who die after retirement, is payable.
For early retirements, other than those due to ill health, the
additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme.
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is
charged to the Income and Expenditure account at the time
the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the
method of payment.
The Scheme provides the opportunity to members to
increase their benefits through money purchase Additional
Voluntary Contributions provided by an approved panel of
life companies. Under the arrangement the
employee/member can make contributions to enhance an
employee's pension benefits. The benefits payable relate
directly to the value of the investments made.
7.1.7 Expenditure on other goods and services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and
to the extent that they have been received, and is measured
at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is
recognised in operating expenses except where it results in
the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant
and equipment.

The increase in the liability arising from pensionable service
earned during the year is recognised within operating
expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme
assets is recognised within finance income. The interest cost
during the year arising from the unwinding of the discount
on the scheme liabilities is recognised within finance costs.
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7.1.8 Intangible assets

3.

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical
substance which are capable of being sold separately from
the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from
contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only
where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust and where
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

4.

Intangible assets are capitalised when they are capable of
being used in the Trust's activities for more than one year;
they can be valued; and they have a cost of at least £5,000.
Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as
intangible fixed assets where expenditure of at least £5,000
is incurred. They are amortised over the shorter of the term
of the licence and their useful economic lives.
Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising
all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and
prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating
in the manner intended by management.
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value.
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are
recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to
the extent that, they reverse impairment previously
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are
recognised in operating income.
Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available
balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged
to operating expenses. Gains and losses recognised in the
revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive
income’.
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.
Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful
economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption
of economic or service delivery benefits and charged straight
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
7.1.9 Property, Plant and Equipment
Recognition
Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:
1.
2.
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It is held for use in delivering services or for
administrative purposes;
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to,
or service potential be provided to, the Trust;

It is expected to be used for more than one financial
year; and
The cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Tangible assets are capitalised if they are capable of being
used for a period which exceeds one year and they:
• Individually have a cost of at least £5,000; or
• Collectively have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually
have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly
simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have
simultaneous disposal dates and are under single
managerial control; or
• Form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a
new building, ward or unit irrespective of their individual
or collective cost.
Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured
initially at cost (for leased assets at fair value), representing
the costs directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the
asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair
value.
Land and Buildings are restated to current value by
undergoing a full valuation by external professionally
qualified valuers every five years with an interim valuation to
take place every three years. The interim valuation is carried
out by external professionally qualified valuers unless the
Trust can provide sufficient evidence that the valuation could
be carried out by a professionally qualified valuer employed
by the Trust.
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers
in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
(RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. The last land and
buildings asset valuations were undertaken in 2009.
Operational equipment is carried at current value. Where
assets are of low value and, or have short useful economic
lives, these are carried at depreciated historic cost as a proxy
for current value.
Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its
original specification, the directly attributable cost is added to
the asset’s carrying value. Where subsequent expenditure is
simply restoring the asset to the specification assumed by its
economic useful life then the expenditure is charged to
operating expenses.
Depreciation
Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not
depreciated. Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are
depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives in a
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manner consistent with the consumption of economic or
service delivery benefits. The useful economic lives of assets
are reviewed on an annual basis and the effects of any
change are recognised on a prospective basis. The economic
life applied to buildings is dependant on the building it
relates to.

Protected and non-protected assets
Assets required for the provision of mandatory goods and
services are protected. Assets which are not required for
mandatory goods and services are not protected and may be
disposed of by the Trust without the approval of Monitor.

In accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
the Trust uses the following economic lives to depreciate its:

7.1.10 Leases

Buildings
Minimum 15 years, maximum 39 years.
Other assets
1. Short life engineering plant and equipment (5 years)
2. Medium life engineering plant and equipment (10
years)
3. Long life engineering plant and equipment (15 years)
4. Vehicles (7 years)
5. Furniture (10 years)
6. Office & IT equipment (5 years)
7. Soft Furnishings (7 years)
8. Short life medical and other equipment (5 years)
9. Medium life medical and other equipment (10 years)
10. Long life medical and other equipment (15 years)
11. Mainframe type IT installations (8 years)
Revaluation and impairment
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are
recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to
the extent that, they reverse impairment previously
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are
recognised in operating income. Decreases in asset values
and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to
the extent that there is an available balance for the asset
concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating
expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an
item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
Donated assets
Donated fixed assets are capitalised at their current value on
receipt and this value is credited to the donated asset
reserve. Donated fixed assets are valued and depreciated as
described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on
revaluations are also taken to the donated asset reserve and,
each year, an amount equal to the depreciation charge on
the asset is released from the donated asset reserve to
retained earnings.
Similarly, any impairment on donated assets charged to the
income and expenditure account is matched by a transfer
from the donated asset reserve. On sale of donated assets,
the net book value of the donated asset is transferred from
the donated asset reserve to the Income and Expenditure
Reserve.

Finance leases - Trust as lessee
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a
leased asset are borne by the NHS foundation trust, the asset
is recorded as Property, Plant and Equipment and a
corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both
are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or
the present value of the minimum lease payments,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
The implicit interest rate is that which produces a constant
periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability.
The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the
lease, and are de-recognised when the liability is discharged,
cancelled or expires. The annual rental is split between the
repayment of the liability and a finance cost. The annual
finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate
to the outstanding liability and is charged to Finance Costs in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Operating leases - Trust as lessee
Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals
are charged to operating expenses on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives
received are added to the lease rentals and charged to
operating expenses over the life of the lease.
Leases of land and buildings - Trust as lessee
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component
is separated from the building component and the
classification for each is assessed separately. Leased land is
treated as an operating lease.
7.1.11 Government grants
Government grants are grants from Government bodies
other than income from primary care trusts or NHS trusts for
the provision of services. Grants from the Department of
Health, including those for achieving three star statuses, are
accounted for as Government grants as are grants from the
Big Lottery Fund.
Where the Government grant is used to fund revenue
expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income to match that expenditure. Where the grant is used
to fund capital expenditure the grant is held as deferred
income and released to operating income over the life of the
asset in a manner consistent with the depreciation charge for
that asset.
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7.1.12 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. The Trust does not deem its stock holding material and
therefore includes a nil stock balance on the Statement of
Financial Position.
7.1.13 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at the
current values of these balances in the NHS Foundation
Trust's cash book. These balances exclude monies held in the
Foundation Trust's bank account belonging to patients (see
"third party assets" – note 7.1.19 below).
Account balances are only set off where a formal agreement
has been made with the bank to do so. In all other cases
overdrafts are disclosed within other creditors. Interest
earned on bank accounts and interest charged on overdrafts
is recorded as, respectively, "finance income" and "finance
cost" in the periods to which they relate. Bank charges are
recorded as an operating expense in the periods to which
they relate.
7.1.14 Financial instruments and financial liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from
contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in
accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which,
performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the
goods or services is made.
De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust
has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
Classification and Measurement
Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value through Income
and Expenditure’, Loans and receivables or ‘Available-for-sale
financial assets’. Financial liabilities are classified as ‘Fair value
through Income and Expenditure’ or as ‘Other Financial
liabilities’.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments with are not quoted in an
active market. They are included in current assets. The Trust’s
loans and receivables comprise: current investments, cash
and cash equivalents, NHS debtors, accrued income and
‘other debtors’.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The
effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly
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estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the
effective interest method and credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
Other financial liabilities
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly
estimated future cash payments through the expected life of
the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts
payable more than 12 months after the Statement of
Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term
liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is
calculated using the effective interest method and charged
to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to
finance property, plant and equipment or intangible assets is
not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses
whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair
value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets
are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events which occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the
estimated future cash-flows of the asset.
7.1.15 Provisions
The NHS foundation trust provides for legal or constructive
obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at the
Statement of Financial Position date on the basis of the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation.
Where the effect of the time value of money is significant,
the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using
HM Treasury’s discount rate of 2.2% in real terms.
Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling
scheme under which the NHS foundation trust pays an
annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles
all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases,
the legal liability remains with the NHS foundation trust. The
total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the
NHSLA on behalf of the NHS foundation trust is disclosed at
7.19.
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Non-clinical risk pooling
The NHS foundation trust participates in the Property
Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme.
Both are risk pooling schemes under which the trust pays an
annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and in
return receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The
annual membership contributions, and any ‘excesses’
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to
operating expenses when the liability arises.
7.1.16 Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in
Note 22, unless the probability of a transfer of economic
benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:
• Possible obligations arising from past events whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
entity’s control; or
• Present obligations arising from past events but for which
it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will
arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.
7.1.17 Public dividend capital
At any time the Secretary of State can issue new public
dividend capital to, and request payment of public dividend
capital from the Trust. Public dividend capital is a type of
public sector finance based on the excess of assets over
liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS
trust. HM Treasury has determined that public dividend
capital is not a financial instrument within the meaning of
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

7.1.20 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of financial statements under IFRS requires
the Trust to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts. Estimates and
judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. The main areas which require the exercise of
judgement are in accounting for fixed assets and provisions.
7.1.21 Accounting standards that have been issued but
have not yet been adopted
The following accounting standards, amendments and
interpretations have been issued by the IASB and IFRIC but
are not yet required to be adopted (see overleaf).
The Trust has considered the above new standards,
interpretations and amendments to published standards that
are yet effective and concluded that they are either not
relevant to the Trust or that they would not have a significant
impact on the Trust’s financial statements, apart from some
additional disclosures.
7.1.22 Accounting standards, amendments and
interpretations issued that have been adopted early
The Trust has not early adopted any new accounting
standards, amendments or interpretations.

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS
foundation trust, is payable as public dividend capital
dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM
Treasury which is currently 3.5% on the average relevant net
assets of the NHS foundation trust during the financial year.
Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets
less the value of all liabilities, except for donated assets and
cash held with the Office of the Paymaster General.
7.1.18 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of
VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax
on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged
to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is
charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated
net of VAT.
7.1.19 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on
behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since
the NHS foundation trust has no beneficial interest in them.
However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the
accounts (see 7.27 below) in accordance with the
requirements of HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual.
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New Accounting Standards
Effective for the next financial year ending 31 March 2011
IAS 27 (amendment) Consolidated and separate financial statements –
changes to reflect accounting for non-controlling (previously minority)
interests

Effective 1 July 2009

IAS 38 (amendment) Intangible assets – various amendments

Effective 1 July 2009

IAS 39 (amendment) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement –
amendments relating to eligible hedged items, embedded derivatives
when reclassifying financial instruments

Effective 1 July 2009

IFRS 1 (amendment) First time adoption of IFRS –
improvements to structure. No changes to technical content.

Effective 1 July 2009

IFRS 2 (amendment) Share-based payments –
improvements to clarify changes relating to IFRS 3

Effective1 July 2009

IFRS 3 (amendment) Business combinations (revised 2008) –
various amendments

Effective1 July 2009

IFRS 5 (amendment) Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations – various amendments

Effective 1 July 2009

IFRIC 9 (amendment) Reassessment of embedded derivatives –
improvements to clarify changes related to IFRS 3

Effective 1 July 2009

IFRIC 16 (amendment) Hedges of a net investment in a foreign
operation – removal of the restriction that prevented a hedging
instrument from being held by a foreign operation that itself is
being hedged

Effective 1 July 2009

IFRIC 17 Distributions of non-cash assets to owners - guidance

Effective 1 July 2009

IAS 1 (amendment) Presentation of financial statements - clarifications

Effective 1 January 2010

IAS 7 (amendment) Statement of cashflows – clarification that only
expenditure that results in the recognition of an asset can be classified as a
cash flow from investing activities

Effective 1 January 2010

IAS 17 (amendments) Leases –
clarification of treatment of leases containing a land element

Effective 1 January 2010

Effective for the next financial year ending 31 March 2011 (Continued)

74

IAS 36 (amendment) Impairment of assets –
clarification of largest unit to which goodwill should be allocated

Effective 1 January 2010

IAS 39 (amendment) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement –
additional guidance and clarification

Effective 1 January 2010

IFRS 1 (amendment) First time adoption of IFRS –
additional exemptions for first time adopters

Effective 1 January 2010

IFRS 2 (amendment) Share-based payments –
clarification of group cash-settled share-based payment transactions

Effective 1 January 2010

IFRS 5 (amendment) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations – clarification of disclosures

Effective 1 January 2010

IFRS 5 (amendment) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations – clarification of disclosures

Effective 1 January 2010

IAS 32 (amendment) Financial Instruments: Presentation –
clarification of rights issues

Effective 1 Feb 2010
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New Accounting Standards (continued)
Effective for future financial years
IFRS 1 (amendment) First time adoption of IFRS –
limited exemptions for first time adopters in relation to IFRS 7 disclosures

Effective 1 July 2010

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments

Effective 1 July 2010

IAS 24 (amendment) Related party transactions – revised definition of a
related party and amendment to disclosure requirements for
government-related bodies

Effective 1 January 2011

IFRIC 14 (amendment) IAS 19 The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum
funding requirement and their interaction – removal of the unintended
consequences arising from the treatment of prepayments where there is a
minimum funding requirement

Effective 1 January 2011

IFRS 9 Financial instruments – replacement of IAS 39

Effective 1 January 2013

The Trust has considered the above new standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are yet
effective and concluded that they are either not relevant to the Trust or that they would not have a significant impact on the
Trust’s financial statements, apart from some additional disclosures.
7.1.23 Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations issued that have been adopted early
The Trust has not early adopted any new accounting standards, amendments or interpretations.
7.2 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
7.2.1 Segmental Analysis
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust considers that the totality of its operations relates to Healthcare.
The segmental reporting format reflects the Trusts management and internal reporting structure.
The provision of healthcare (including medical treatment, research and education) is within one main geographical segment, the
United Kingdom, and materially from the West Midlands.
Revenue from activities is analysed by customer in 7.2.2 on page 76. The total income receivable is disclosed below, the
significant factor of which is the mandatory services requirement as set out in the Trust’s Terms of Authorisation from Monitor’.

7.2.1 Segmental Analysis

Revenue from activities
Other operating revenue
Total income

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

48,063

8,022

2,452

400

50,515

8,422
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7.2.2 Revenue from Activities

Revenue from activities – by source
Year ended

31 March 2009
31 March 2010

2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

28

5

319

72

Primary Care Trusts

36,510

5,775

Local Authorities

11,116

2,170

90

0

48,063

8,022

31 March 2010

2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

32,850

878

Block contract income

8,736

6,281

Clinical partnerships providing mandatory services

4,856

858

Other clinical income from mandatory services

1,621

5

48,063

8,022

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

Education and research

1,292

240

Other revenue

1,160

160

Total revenue

2,452

400

NHS Foundation Trusts
NHS Trusts

Non-NHS Other
Total revenue

Revenue from activities – by type
Year ended

31 March 2009

Cost and volume contract revenue

Total revenue

7.3 Other operating revenue

‘Other revenue’ includes Estate recharges £560k, clinical tests £5k, catering £47k and other £548k.
Revenue is almost totally from the supply of services. Revenue from the sale of goods is immaterial.
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7.4 Operating expenses
Operating expenses comprise:

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts

162

0

Services from NHS Trusts

254

110

Services from other NHS bodies

203

13

2,952

424

905

144

87

9

34,932

5,683

1,267

208

74

9

783

114

1,030

186

14

0

3,948

653

Increase/(decrease) in bad debt provision

(18)

12

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

677

171

13

0

870

0

Audit services – statutory audit

73

29

Legal fees

43

12

Consultancy costs

140

6

Training, courses and conferences

195

69

Patient travel

259

48

78

7

6

1

Insurance

153

(9)

Other services, e.g. external payroll

101

15

Loss, ex gratia and special payments

11

18

311

159

49,523

8,091

Purchases of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Employee expenses – executive directors
Employee expenses – non-executive directors
Employee expenses –staff
Drug costs
Supplies and services – clinical (excluding drugs costs)
Supplies and services – general
Establishment
Transport
Premises

Amortisation on intangible assets
Impairments of property, plant and equipment

Car parking and security
Hospitality

Other expenses
Total operating cost

‘Other expenses’ includes carers’ grant £40k (£39K), contract security £78k (£43k), financial system consultancy £11k
(£11k), professional fees £52k (£47k) and oasis support and maintenance £127k (£102k). Prior year figures have been
grossed-up for comparison.
The Trust’s contract with its external auditors, KPMG LLP, provides for a limitation of the auditors liability of five hundred
thousand pounds sterling.
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7.5 Operating leases
As a Lessee – payments recognised as an expense:

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

1,562

266

1,562

266

Land and Buildings
£’ 000

Other leases
£’ 000

Not later than one year;

1,898

122

Later than one year and not later than five years;

7,541

170

16,680

0

26,119

292

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

Short term employee benefits - Salaries and wages

29,429

4,816

Short term employee benefits - Social security costs

2,324

377

Post employment benefits

3,193

519

Other long term benefits

102

19

Agency/contract staff

787

96

35,835

5,827

Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Less sublease payments
Total

Future minimum lease payments due:

Future minimum lease payments due:

Later than five years;
Total

The Trust has not entered into any arrangements where it is the lessor.
7.6 Staff costs and numbers
7.6.1 Employee costs

Total
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Total employer pension contributions amounted to £3,295k (2 months to 31 March 2009 = £538k)

7.6.2 Average number of persons employed

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

Number

Number

57

56

Administration and estates

228

202

Healthcare assistants and other support staff

262

269

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff

268

269

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff

105

104

Bank and agency staff

40

52

Other employees

24

28

984

980

Medical and dental

Total

7.6.3 Directors’ Remuneration

£’000

Directors’ remuneration

991

Employer contributions to the pension scheme

153
Number

Total number of directors to whom benefits are accruing under:
- money purchase schemes

0

- defined benefit schemes

12

7.6.4 Early retirements due to ill-health
During the twelve month period to 31 March 2010 there were no early retirements from the Trust agreed on the grounds
of ill-health.
7.7 PFI Schemes
The overall Scheme sees the Trust entering into a Project Agreement with Ryhurst for a period of 25 years for the provision
of serviced Acute Mental Health facilities. The facilities have been constructed by Ryhurst on land in the ownership of the
Trust in Hallam Street, West Bromwich, and opened to patients in February 2000.
The facilities comprise:
1.
2.

A Resource Centre for use by Inpatients and other Patients attending on a day basis.
Five Residential Blocks including a small Learning Disabilities Bungalow.

Within the Project Agreement, Ryhurst provide the following services for the Trust:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Domestic Services
Catering Services
Laundry and Linen Services
Portering Services
Site Security Services
Maintenance Services
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Within the main agreement, a payment mechanism has been agreed, with the Trust paying a single monthly payment. The
payment mechanism has the following main features:
1.
2.
3.

An availability element - the unitary payment for the availability of serviced facilities.
Service failure reductions - reductions to the availability element for failures of performance in delivering services; and
A Variable element - to reflect variations from budgeted volumes of patient activity for catering and linen.

The contract has an operating phase of 25 years, at the end of which the Trust does not have the right to acquire the asset.
At Year 25, the Trust has the option to continue using the assets should the Health need remain on terms to be agreed and
negotiated on a five yearly basis. Alternatively, the Trust could 'walk away' leaving Ryhurst to seek alternative users of the
facilities to continue to make commercial returns for the remaining 100 years of the head lease. This therefore means that
under IFRC12 the PFI scheme can be treated off-Statement of Financial Position The Scheme Operator has accounted for
the Scheme as an asset on its own balance sheet. The Scheme has resulted in no Guarantees, Commitments or other rights
and obligations beyond the contract end in October 2023.
PFI scheme deemed to be off-statement of financial position

Gross charge to operating expenses

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

1,339

256

1,339

256

Amortisation
Net change to operating expenses

The Trust is committed to make the following payments for off-statement of financial position PFI during the next year in
which the commitment expires:

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

1,416

1,416

1,416

1,416

PFI scheme which expires:
Within one year
2nd to 5th years (inclusive)
6th to 10th years (inclusive)
11th to 15th years (inclusive)
16th to 20th years (inclusive)
21st to 25th years (inclusive)
26th to 30th years (inclusive)
31st to 35th years (inclusive)
36th to 40th years (inclusive)
Total

PFI schemes deemed to be off-statement of financial position. Total length of project is 25 years. Number of years to the
end of the project is14 years.
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7.8 Better Payment Practice Code
7.8.1 Better Payment Practice Code – measure of compliance
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all undisputed invoices by the due date or within 30 days
of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.

Better Payment Practice Code

NHS

£

%

Number

%

Within BPPC

1,629,389

90

149

74

Total Paid

1,806,048

NON-NHS

£

%

Number

%

Within BPPC

11,360,891

96

7671

88

Total Paid

11,799,018

202

8716

7.8.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
Nil interest was charged to the Trust in the year for late payment of commercial debts.
7.9 Gains and losses

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

106

0

Total

106

0

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

Interest on loans and receivables

12

3

Total

12

3

7.10 Finance income
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7.11 Taxation
The activities of the Trust have not given rise to any corporation tax liability in the year (2008-09; nil)
7.12 Intangible fixed assets

Software Licences
£’ 000

Gross cost at 1 April 2009
Additions – purchases

80
0

Gross Cost at 31 March 2010

80

Amortisation at 1 April 2009

40

Provided during the year

13

Amortisation at 31 March 2010

53

Net Book Value
Purchased at 1 April 2009
Donated at 1 April 2009
Total at 1 April 2009

40
0
40

Net Book Value
Purchased at 31 March 2010
Donated at 31 March 2010
Total at 31 March 2010

Valuation and economic useful lives
The valuation basis is described in 7.1.8. The economic useful lives of intangibles are finite and are described in
7.1.8.
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7.13 Property, plant and equipment

Land

Building
(excluding
Dwellings)

Plant

IT

Furniture/
Fittings

Total

£’000
7,519

£’000
23,397

£’000
616

£’000
1,238

£’000
1,351

£’000
34,121

0

2,279

22

64

101

2,466

revaluation reserve

0

(4,231)

0

0

0

(4,231)

Revaluation surplus

1,074

64

0

0

0

1,138

(25)

(1,897)

0

0

0

(1,922)

Gross Cost at 31 March 2010

8,568

19,612

638

1,302

1,452

31,572

Depreciation at 1 April 2009

0

3,425

315

780

1,002

5,522

0

606

0

0

0

606

revaluation reserve

0

(647)

0

0

0

(647)

Disposals

0

(403)

0

0

0

(403)

Provided during the year

0

427

45

129

78

679

Depreciation at 31 March 2010

0

3,408

360

909

1,080

5,757

7,519

19,594

301

458

349

28,221

0

378

0

0

0

378

7,519

19,972

301

458

349

28,599

8,568

15,868

278

393

372

25,479

0

336

0

0

0

336

8,568

16,204

278

393

372

25,815

Gross cost at 1 April 2009
Additions – purchases
Impairments charged to

Disposals

Impairments charged to
operating expenses
Impairments charged to

Net Book Value
Purchased at
1 April 2009
Donated at
1 April 2009
Total at 1 April 2009

Net Book Value Purchased at
31 March 2010
Donated at 31 March 2010

Total at 31 March 2010
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7.13.1 Asset financing

Land

Building
(excluding
Dwellings)

Plant

IT

Furniture/
Fittings

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

8,568

16,204

0

0

0

0

0

278

393

372

1,043

8,568

16,204

278

393

372

25,815

Net Book Value
Protected assets at
31 March 2010
Unprotected at 31 March 2010
Total at 31 March 2010

24,772

7.14 Contractual capital commitments

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

0

0

290

14

1,339

256

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Total

7.15 Trade receivables and other receivables

Opening
balance
At 1
February
2009

Movement

Year
ended
31 March
2009

Movement

Year
ended
31 March
2010

Current receivables and other
receivables

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

NHS receivables

1,306

(545)

761

418

1,179

0

1864

1,864

(355)

1,509

Prepayments

134

280

414

106

520

Provision for impaired receivables

(27)

(12)

(39)

18

(21)

0

10

10

69

79

2,000

(1371)

629

(297)

332

3,413

226

3,639

(41)

3,598

Other receivables with related parties

Accrued income
Other receivables
Total current receivables and
other receivables
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7.15.1 Provision for impairment of receivables

At 1 February
31 March
2009

Other
cash
changes

At 1 April
2009

Other
cash
changes

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

27

12

39

(18)

21

Provision for impaired of receivables

7.15.2 Analysis of non-impaired receivables past their due date

Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

2,178

791

In three to six months

243

272

Over six months

369

1,316

2,790

2,379

Up to three months

Total

7.16 Cash and cash equivalents

At 1
February
31 March
2009
£’000

Other
cash
changes

At 1 April
2009

Other
cash
changes

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

2,515

(165)

2,350

1,727

4,077

44

(8)

36

799

835

2,559

(173)

2,386

2,528

4,912

GBS cash at bank
Commercial cash at bank and in hand
At 31 March 2010
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7.17 Trade and other payables
Opening
Balance
At 1 February
31 March
2009

Movement

Year ended
31 March
2009

Current trade and other payables

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

NHS payables

1,306

(731)

575

87

662

0

0

777

84

861

Trade payables – capital

134

181

315

332

647

Other trade payable

(27)

27

1,252

374

878

2,000

391

362

(4)

358

0

610

610

353

963

728

(9)

719

4

723

4,141

469

4,610

484

5,092

373

0

373

750

1123

- Legal claims

94

(13)

81

(33)

48

- Annual leave

37

7

44

0

44

131

(6)

125

(33)

92

Total non-current trade and other payables 504

(6)

498

717

1,215

463

5,108

1,200

6,308

Amounts due to related parties

Other payables
Accruals
Taxes payable
Total current trade and other payables

Movement Year ended
31 March
2009

Non-current trade and other payables
Trust local government pension liability
Provision for liabilities and charges:

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Total trade and other payables

4,645

7.17.1 The figures stated below are as at 31 March 2010 on an Actuarial Valuation from Mercer Ltd
Pension Disclosure under FRS 17

Statement of Financial Position

Trust local government pension liability
SMBC Liability
Net Trust Local government pension liability
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Year ended
31 March 2010

31 March 2009
2 months period

£’ 000

£’ 000

(1,278)

(528)

155

373

(1,123)

(373)
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The major assumptions used by the actuary

Year ended

31 March 2009

31 March 2010

2 months period

%

%

Discount rate

7.00

5.90

Expected long-term return on plan assets

6.51

6.93

Rate of salary increase

5.25

5.35

Rate of pension increase

3.50

3.60

Inflation assumption

3.50

3.60

were ( in normal terms):

The assets in the scheme (£’000) and
the expected rate of return (%) were:

Expected
rate of
return

Plan assets
at 31 March
2010

Expected Plan assets
rate of at 31 March
return
2009

%

£’ 000

%

£’000

Equities/absolute return

7.50

2,225

7.50

1,480

Government bonds

4.50

258

4.00

285

Other bonds

5.20

234

6.00

150

Property/infrastructure

6.50

283

6.50

250

Other

0.50

39

0.50

112

Total fair value of assets

6.88

3,039

6.51

2,277

Present value of funded obligations

(4,317)

(2,805)

Funded Surplus/(Deficit)

(1,278)

(528)

7.17.3 The provision for legal claims
The provision for legal claims amounting to £48k comprises claims outstanding against the Trust for employers and third
party liabilities. It is at present uncertain as to the probable timing and amount of any exchange of economic benefit to the
claimants whilst the matters are processed by the courts. The values have been estimated based upon the probabilities
established by the NHS litigation authority.
7.17.4 The provision for annual leave
The provision for annual leave is in relation to untaken annual leave for employees of the Trust.
7.18 Other liabilities

Opening
balance
At 1
February
2009

Movement

Year
ended
31 March
2009

Movement

Year
ended
31 March
2010

Current Liabilities

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’000

£’ 000

Deferred income

0

111

111

760

871

Total current other liabilities

0

111

111

760

871
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7.19 Clinical negligence liabilities
The amount included in provisions of the NHS litigation authority in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of Sandwell
Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust to the value of £108k.

Statement of Financial Position

Year ended
31 March 2010

Year ended
31 March 2009

£’ 000

£’ 000

Clinical negligence liabilities

108

48

Total

108

48

Year ended
31 March 2010

Year ended
31 March 2009

£’ 000

£’ 000

Gross contingent liabilities

0

43

Amounts recoverable against liabilities

0

0

7.20 Contingencies

Statement of Financial Position

value of relates
contingent
liabilities
0
TheNet
contingency
to legal
cases currently handled by the NHS litigation authority.
Any amounts shown43
in this
note are over and above the amounts provided for in note 19 relating to the provisions for liabilities and charges
Contingent assets
0
0
element.

The contingency relates to legal cases currently handled by the NHS litigation authority. Any amounts shown in this note
are over and above the amounts provided for in 7.17 relating to the provisions for liabilities and charges element.
7.21 Prudential borrowing limit
The Trust has a prudential borrowing limit of £12.9m in 2009-10 (£10.9m in 2008-09). The Trust has not used this facility
for the year (£nil used in 2008-09).

Financial Ratios

Approved

Actual

Approved

Actual

PBL
ratios

ratios
2009-10

PBL
ratios

ratios
2008-2009

15%

0%

-

-

Minimum Dividend Cover

1x

1x

-

-

Minimum Interest Cover

3x

0x

-

-

Minimum Debt Service Cover

2x

100x

-

-

3%

0%

-

-

Maximum Debt/Capital Ratio

Minimum Debt Service to Revenue

The Trust was authorised as a Foundation Trust 1 February 2009 from when the above ratios apply specifically for
Foundation Trusts. Therefore there are no corresponding ratios for 2008-09.
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Year ended
31 March 2010

Year ended
31 March 2009

£’ 000

£’ 000

Total long-term borrowing set by Monitor

9,200

7,200

Working capital facility agreed by Monitor

3,700

3,700

12,900

10,900

Long-term borrowing at 1 April 2009

0

0

Net actual borrowing/(repayment) in year

0

0

Long-term borrowing at 31 March 2010

0

0

Working capital borrowing at 1 April 2009

0

0

Net actual borrowing/(repayment) in year

0

0

Working capital borrowing at 31 March 2010

0

0

Total Prudential borrowing limit

The NHS Foundation Trust is required to comply and remain within the prudential borrowing limit. This is made up of two
elements:
• The maximum cumulative amount of long-term borrowing. This is set by reference to the five ratios test set out in
Monitor’s Prudential Borrowing Code. The financial risk rating set under Monitor’s Compliance Framework determines
one of the ratios and therefore can impact on the long-term borrowing limit.
• The amount of any working capital facility approved by Monitor.
Further information on the NHS Foundation Trust Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework can be found on
the website of Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.
There has been no necessity to make use of the Trust’s Prudential Borrowing Limit or use its overdraft.
7.22 Reconciliation of UK GAAP Taxpayers' Equity to IFRS Taxpayers Equity as at 31 March 2009 (end of the previous
balance sheet period in relation to the first full IFRS accounts)

Current trade and other payables
Revaluation reserve
Donated asset reserve
Pension reserve
Income and expenditure reserve

Total taxpayers equity

UK GAAP
UK GAAP
31 March Adjustment
2009
£’000
£’000
14,146
0

Adjusted
UK GAAP

Effects of
Transition

£’000
14,146

£’000
0

IFRS
31 March
2010
£’000
14,146

14,601

0

14,601

(173)

14,128

(252)

0

(252)

0

(252)

610

0

610

135

745

29,493

0

29,493

(38)

29,445
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7.23 Events after the reporting period
The Trust does not have any post reporting period events.

7.24 Related party Transactions
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of
State for Health.
During the year none of the Board Members or members of the key management staff or parties related to them has
undertaken any material transactions with Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for
which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. These entities are listed below:

Organisation

Revenue Expenditure Receivables
£’ 000
£’ 000
£’000

Payables
£’ 000

Sandwell Primary Care Trust

32,123

244

827

609

Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council

11,139

3,872

1,501

861

Birmingham East and North Primary Care Trust

2,964

19

10

19

West Midlands Strategic Health Authority

1,292

6

(12)

0

Heart of Birmingham Primary Care Trust

952

0

0

0

Dudley Primary Care Trust

859

101

117

41

49,329

4,242

2,443

1,530

Total

7.25 Financial Instruments
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures require disclosure of the role that
financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its
activities.
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one company and a financial liability or equity
instrument in another company.
The Trust does not have any complex financial instruments and does not hold or issue financial instruments for speculative
trading purposes and because of the continuing service provider relationship the Trust has with Primary Care Trusts and the
way those Primary Care Trusts are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.
Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of the listed
companies to which IFRS 7 mainly applies. Due to the Trust’s terms of authorization it has limited powers to borrow or
invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being
held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Trust's financial instruments comprise provisions, cash at bank and in hand and various items, such as trade debtors
and trade creditors that arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Trust's operations.

7.25.1 Financial risk
Due to the continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with primary care trusts (PCTs) and the way those PCTs
are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial instruments
play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial
reporting standards mainly apply.
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The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-today operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.
7.25.2 Interest rate risk
The majority of the Trust's financial assets and financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. Sandwell Mental Health
and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust is not therefore exposed to significant interest-rate risk.
7.25.3 Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organization with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK
and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
7.25.4 Credit risk
The Trust operates primarily within the NHS market and receives the majority of its income from other NHS organisations as
disclosed in 7.2.2. Bad debt provisions are calculated based on the Trust’s bad debt provision policy which considers the
type of debtor, age of the outstanding debt and knowledge of specific balances.
7.25.5 Liquidity risk
The Trust’s net operating costs are incurred under annual service level agreements with local Primary Care Trusts which are
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust also largely finances its capital expenditure from funds
made available from Government under agreed borrowing limits. Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation
Trust is not therefore exposed to significant liquidity risk.
7.25.6 Financial instruments

Financial assets

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

31 March 31 March
2010
2010

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

31 March 31 March
2009
2009

1 Feb
2009

1 Feb
2009

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Cash and cash equivalents

4,912

4,912

2,386

2,386

2,559

2,559

Trade and receivables

3,102

3,102

3,228

3,228

3400

3400

Total current financial assets

8,014

8,014

5,614

5,614

5,959

5,959

Trade and other payables

(4,370)

(4,370)

(3,891)

(3,891)

(4,431)

(4,431)

Total current financial

(4,370)

(4,370)

(3,891)

(3,891)

(4,431)

(4,431)

(1,123)

(1,123)

(373)

(373)

(373)

(373)

(1,123)

(1,123)

(373)

(373)

(373)

(373)

2,521

2,521

1,350

1,350

1,155

1,155

Current financial assets

Current financial liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities
Other payables
Total non-current
financial liabilities

Net financial assets
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7.26 Losses and special payments
Losses and Special Payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health
service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to
special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which
govern the way each individual case is handled.
Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the Income and Expenditure Account on an
accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS Trusts not been
bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

Losses and Special payments

Total
Number
of cases
2009-10

Total
Value
of cases
2009-10

Total
Number
of cases
2009-10

Total
Value
of cases
2009-10

LOSSES:

Numbers

£’000

Numbers

£’000

1. Losses of cash

0

0

0

0

2. Fruitless payments

0

0

0

0

3. Bad debts and claims abandoned in relation to:

0

0

0

0

4. Damage to buildings, property etc due to:

0

0

0

0

Total losses

0

0

0

0

5. Compensation under legal obligation

0

0

0

0

6. Extra contractual to contractors

0

0

0

0

7. Ex gratia payments in respect of:

0

0

0

0

a. loss of personal effects

0

0

0

0

b. clinical negligence with advice

0

0

0

0

c. personal injury with advice

1

0.3

0

0

d. other negligence and injury

0

0

0

0

e. other

5

0.9

0

0

f. maladministration, no financial loss

0

0

0

0

8. Extra statutory and regulatory

0

0

0

0

Total special payments

6

1.2

0

0

TOTAL LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS

6

1.2

0

0

SPECIAL PAYMENTS:

7.27 Third party assets
The Trust held £502k cash at bank at 31 March 2010 (£498k at 31 March 2009) which relates to monies held by the NHS
Foundation Trust on behalf of patients. This has been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in the
statement of financial position.
7.28 Auditors liability limitation
The Trust uses KPMG LLP to provide external audit services. KPMG LLP provides for a limitation of the auditors liability of
five hundred thousand pounds sterling.
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8.Independent
Auditors’ report

Spiritual Care team members in
Edward Street prayer room
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9.Quality Report

Former service users now Trust volunteers,
Margaret Sweeting, Rita Wakeman and
Olive Nock at a membership event
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9.1 Statement by the Board of Directors
The Board are pleased to present the first Quality
Report for the Trust. Last year we produced a Quality
Report and this year we are building on that report to
make information about the quality of services
delivered by the Trust available to members of the
public. The Board’s hope is that, by reading this
account, you will have a clearer picture of the services
the Trust delivers and the work we are doing to
continuously improve the quality of our services.
Last year we identified a number of areas where we
wanted to improve. These areas were described in
last year’s report. The Quality Report gives an account
of how we are doing in these areas and what we
intend to do during 2010 and into 2011.
In addition, our account outlines other activities that
the Trust has been engaged with to make sure we are
delivering the best services that we can to local
people.
The Board takes quality of service seriously and
receives regular reports of progress against the areas
contained in this Quality Report. It acknowledges that
a number of these areas will not be improved
overnight but that they need sustained attention by
the committed staff working in the Trust. The Board
also recognises the crucial role staff play in achieving
these improvements. As an acknowledgment of this
commitment, the Board hosted the Annual Staff
Outstanding Award Ceremony earlier this year. This
was a celebration of the excellent and innovative
work done by staff throughout the year and a way of
letting staff know how much their work in providing
high quality services is appreciated.
In the current economic climate, all health services
are looking closely at how productive they are. This
organisation is no exception and staff have been
working on an initiative called The Productive Mental
Health Ward. This initiative focuses on finding ways
to increase the amount of direct care time given to
people who use mental health inpatient services. The
programme is designed to improve the safety and
effectiveness of mental health wards. During 2009/10
three of the wards, one in each of our hospital sites,
participated in the scheme. By the time we produce
our Quality Report next year all of the wards on all of
our hospital sites will be part of the scheme and will
all be making positive improvements for people who
use the Trust’s inpatient services. This scheme is an
excellent example of how high quality care can be
achieved alongside improvements in productivity.
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During this year the Board sponsored a piece of work
led by a group of people who use our services to
obtain feedback about their experience of using our
services. The ‘Making a Difference Group’ has met
monthly. Its members are people who currently or
previously used services in the Trust. Throughout the
year they have been working hard to develop a
questionnaire which they will use to gain feedback
from people using our services. This will help
managers and clinicians to develop quality
improvement plans that truly reflect what people
who use our services would like to see improved. The
Trust has supported the group by providing training
to help them feel confident in undertaking feedback
surveys with people who use our services.
Also during this year the Board adopted a 3 year
Quality Strategy. This strategy outlines the key
priorities for action for the organisation. Amongst
these priorities is the establishment of the Quality
Council.
The Council is chaired by a Non Executive Director
and membership is composed of Trust Members and
Governors. The Council meets twice a year and
receives feedback on progress made against Quality
Improvement Plans, CQUIN (Commissioning for
Quality and Innovation) and Quality Account
priorities. In addition, the Quality Council will be
consulted about their priorities for quality
improvement. As such the Council functions as an
advisory group made up of Trust members and
governors.
The inaugural meeting of the Quality Council was
held in early March and attended by 30 members and
governors of the Trust. The Council received
presentations from 4 of the service areas describing
the quality improvements that have been made.
Colleagues from the local commissioning Primary
Care Trust, LiNK (Local Involvement Network), the
Making a Difference Group and the Chairperson of
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee were also
invited.
The Board sees the Quality Council as a valuable
forum for engaging with members and governors
about quality. It provides an opportunity for key
stakeholders to offer a challenge to the organisation
in respect of its own internally generated view of
quality.
Members attending this Council were asked to help
to develop a local definition for the three quality
areas identified by Lord Darzi. The outcome of this
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exercise will help to inform the detail of the Quality
Improvement Plans for 2010 / 2011.
Sandwell Primary Care Trust (PCT) has commenced
monthly Service Quality Review Meetings with senior
officers of the Trust. These meetings provide an
opportunity for our commissioners to regularly
monitor the quality of the services offered.
The Board is keen that services are subject to external
scrutiny. To this end, it has once again commissioned
an independent organisation to conduct quality of
life audits in a number of inpatient areas. This work is
described in more detail below.
In publishing this account the Trust Board have
reviewed its content and verified the accuracy of the
details contained therein.
Signed:

Chief Executive Officer on behalf of the Board of
Directors, 7th June 2010

9.2 Priorities for Improvement
For several years, the service areas have been
generating a local Quality Improvement Plan. These
have been based on what the service areas recognise
to be their local priorities for service improvements.
The plans have been structured around making sure
services are patient focused, safe, effective, well
governed, accessible and responsive and delivered in
clean and appropriate environments.
The plans are wide ranging and detailed. The service
delivery areas’ Quality Improvement Plans, which are
approved by the Trust Executive Committee, are
reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Clinical
Effectiveness Committee. The chair of this group
gives a monthly report to the Quality Assurance
Committee, a subgroup of the Board of Directors.
Outlined below are the Trust wide priorities for
quality improvement. In addition to these there are a
number of service specific initiatives. These are not
detailed in this report.

The Board recognises the very significant health
inequalities that exist for people who have severe
mental illness. This will continue to be an area for
quality improvement across the Trust. During 2009/10
work focused primarily on inpatient areas. This will be
extended to ensure people attending outpatient
appointments have access to information and
support to stop smoking. This is a local health
economy priority in Sandwell where approximately
30% of the general population continue to smoke. It
is likely that this figure will be higher for people using
our services. As a Board we do not currently know
the extent of the issue but the proposed work will
assist with reducing the figures.
People using inpatient services will continue to have
physical health assessments on admission and at
periods throughout their stay. In addition, inpatients
will continue to be screened for their risks of
developing Cardiovascular Disease. Both of these
screening processes include advice and support about
smoking cessation. An audit process will be put in
place to gather data about how many people
attending outpatients can be shown to have had
advice about smoking cessation. Progress against an
improvement target will be reported quarterly to the
Board.
National surveys of people who use mental health
services consistently show they have a perception
that they do not receive adequate information about
the side effects of prescribed medication. This
perception was reinforced during a recent
consultation at the Quality Council. Inadequate
information is often cited by people who use services
as a factor which may contribute to poor adherence
with medication regimes, including prematurely
stopping taking the prescribed medication. This
factor has an impact on people’s recovery.
In our recent self assessment for the organisation’s
application for registration with the Care Quality
Commission, paucity of information relating to
medicines was acknowledged as a shortfall by the
Board. The Board is therefore supporting a scheme to
increase the amount of information that people using
services receive about the side effects of their
medication. The provision of information will be
measured by audits conducted twice during the year.
This data will give the Board a baseline against which
improvement can be measured. Progress against the
improvement target will be reported to the Board
after the second audit has been completed.
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Auditing the quality of the experience of people who
use our inpatient services has given the Board a
wealth of information which will help to inform
priorities in a number of areas. The Board has agreed
that this work - which cuts across a number of the
priority areas identified in the previous quality report should continue to be an activity that supports quality
improvement. During 2009/10, a number of audit
tools were developed. The data from the completed
audits has only become available at the end of the
year which this account covers. It is clear, however,
that the audits produce a lot of valuable information
for the Trust. The information touches on how safe
people who use services feel, as well as if they are
treated with dignity and respect, two areas of work
for 2009/10 and which require continuous
improvement during 2010/11. Re-audits of the areas
audited in 2009/10 will be undertaken in the first half
of 2010/11, the outcome of these audits and
proposal for further improvements will be reported to
the Board.

9.3 Statement of Assurance by the Board
9.3.1 Review of Services
During 2009/2010 Sandwell Mental Health and Social
Care NHS Foundation Trust provided both inpatient
and community NHS services for people with mental
health problems and people with learning disabilities.
The Board regularly reviews the available data on the
quality of care for a number of quality indicators
which take account of patient safety, patient
experience and clinical effectiveness. Some of these
indicators are those covered by the CQUIN
(Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) schemes
and therefore represent 0.5% of the Trust income /
activity. In addition the Trust has introduced a twice
yearly thematic review of services. These reviews
consider a range of measures including performance
against the service derived quality improvement plan.
These reviews are led by members of the executive
team and attended by senior officers from the
operational management team for each of the service
areas. Via this mechanism all services within the
organisation have been reviewed during the year
2009/10.
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed
in 2009/2010 represents100% of the total income
generated from the provision of NHS services by
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust.
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9.3.2 Participation in Clinical Audit
During 2009 / 2010 the Trust was eligible to
participate in six national clinical audits and related
clinical quality data collection programmes, and one
national confidential enquiry, covering services it
provides. The national clinical audits and confidential
enquiries that Sandwell Mental Health and Social
Care NHS Foundation Trust participated in are shown
in Table 1 opposite.
During 2009/2010 the Trust participated in 100% of
the national clinical audits and 100% of the national
confidential enquiries which it was eligible to
participate in.
• The Trust participated in five of the clinical audits
for which it was eligible. Only two of these
published reports in 2009. The remainder are due
during 2010.
• Of the national clinical audits in which the Trust
participated, the care of 100% of eligible patients
was measured during the reporting period.
• 98% of patients were not covered by available
audits during this period.
• The proportion of incomplete data within the year
reported on in the clinical audits undertaken was
0%.
The following actions relating to the national clinical
audits including the national confidential enquiry
have been approved to improve the quality of
healthcare provided. See Table 2 opposite.
The Trust undertakes a programme of local clinical
audit on clinical performance which is reported to the
Trust board.
The reports of 23 local clinical audits were reviewed
by the Trust in 2009/10.
• the care of 100% of selected patient groups was
measured during the reporting period for each
local clinical audit.
• each local clinical audit has a designated patient
group with a specific representative sample size
audited.
The following actions relating to the local clinical
audits have been approved to improve the quality of
healthcare provided (see Table 3 on page 100).
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Table 1: Clinical Audits and Confidential Inquiries 2009/10
Audit

Status

National Audit of Psychological Therapies for
Anxiety and Depression

Awaiting confirmation of start date and criteria

National Falls and Bone Health in Older People

Data collection starts in May 2010

National Audit of Continence Care

Data collection completed. Report due end of
2010. 32 cases were submitted. This represents
100% of registered cases required by the Royal
College.

POMH (National Prescribing Observatory for Mental
Health)
Topic 1e supplementary follow up of high dose and
combination antipsychotic prescribing 2010

Data collection completed. 65 cases were
submitted. This represents 96% of registered cases
required by the Royal College.
Reports due to be presented to Drugs &
Therapeutics Committee in May 2010

Healthcare Commission Re-audit of Community
Mental Health Teams (CMHTs)

110 registered cases were submitted to the
Healthcare Commission. This represents 100% of
registered cases as required by the Health Care
Commission. Completed action plan monitored by
directorate care governance committee.

National Confidential Inquiry of All Suicides in
England (2007) and by Mental Health Trusts (2008)

Report received via SHA. Action plan focus on
adoption of NPSA suicide prevention audit tool. The
Trust submitted all cases of suicide for the period as
required by the NCI. This represents 100% of
relevant cases.

National Audit of Treatment Resistant Schizophrenia

Awaiting notification of start date.

National Audit of Dementia

Aimed at general acute hospitals only
so ineligible to participate

Table 2: Actions arising from Audits/Inquiries 2009/10
Safety

Clinical Effectiveness

Patient Experience

Implementation of NPSA suicide
prevention toolkit

Review of Trust policies relevant
to NPSA toolkit as part audit
programme.

Re-audit of service users’
satisfaction with services.
Review of outcomes measures.
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Table 3: Actions arising from Local Clinical Audits 2009/10
Safety

Clinical Effectiveness

Patient Experience

Review of documentation and
training relating to
administration and prescribing
of medicines;
Consolidation of Safeguarding
level 2 training for non clinical
staff .

Review of Trust policies assessed
as part audit programme;
Alerting staff to policies where
audit has identified issues about
compliance;
Review of recording keeping vis
a vis reasons why clients decline
Hepatitis A and B vaccinations in
substance misuse services.

Re-audit of service users’
satisfaction with services;
Review of outcomes measures;
Private visiting area for young
people and their parents/carers
identified.

9.3.3 Participation in clinical research
The number of patients recruited in the previous year
to clinical research was 3. The majority of research
studies during this period only required staff
participation and the number of staff recruited was
49.

9.3.4 Use of Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation payment framework
A proportion of Sandwell Mental Health and Social
Care NHS Foundation Trust’s contract income in
2009/ 2010 was conditional on achieving quality
improvements and innovation goals agreed with the
Trust and its commissioners through the
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment
framework. Further details of the 2009/2010 agreed
goals and the new goals agreed for 2010/ 2011 are
available on request from sue.marshall@smhft.nhs.uk
The monetary total for the income conditional upon
achieving quality improvements and innovations in
2009/10 was £556k. The monetary total received in
2009/10 was also £556k.

9.4 Information relating to registration
with the Care Quality Commission
9.4.1 Statement from the Care Quality
Commission
The Trust is required to be registered with the Care
Quality Commission (CQC). The Trust registration
status is that there are no conditions on the Trust’s
registration. The CQC has not taken enforcement
action against the Trust since the start of the
reporting year.
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The Trust has completed its application for
registration in respect of Healthcare Associated
Infections. No conditions were attached to that
registration by the CQC.
The Trust is not subject to periodic review by the Care
Quality Commission.
There have not been any recent periodic or special
reviews by the CQC.

9.5 Data Quality
In records submitted to the Secondary Uses System
(SUS) for inclusion in Hospital Episodes Statistics
(HES), the percentage of records including the valid
patient’s NHS Number was 99.7% for outpatient
appointments and 97.5% for inpatient admissions
(Data published up to month 11 in 2009/10 ).
The Trust was not subject to the Payment by Results
clinical coding audit by the Audit Commission during
the reporting period.
In records submitted to the Secondary Uses System
(SUS) for inclusion in Hospital Episodes Statistics
(HES), the percentage of records including the valid
patient’s General Practitioner Registration Code was
100% for outpatient appointments and inpatient
admissions (Data up to month 11 2009/10).
The Trust’s score for Information Quality and Records
Management assessed using the Information
Governance Toolkit was 84% in 2008/09. An audit
was undertaken on 22nd March.
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9.6 National targets
The Trust’s performance against the Monitor Compliance Framework is shown in Table 4 below:

Table 4: Performance against Compliance Targets 2009/10

Indicator

Target

Performance

Delayed transfers of care

Over the full year, less than
7.5% of beds should be
occupied by patients whose
transfer is delayed

6.5%

7-day follow-up

Each quarter, 95% of inpatients
who are discharged should be
followed up within 7 days

Q1 – 98.2%
Q2 – 92.7%
Q3 – 98.0%
Q4 – 100.0%

Crisis gate keeping

Each quarter, 90% of admissions
to inpatient wards should be
seen by the Crisis Resolution
team prior to admission

Q1 – 94.9%
Q2 – 94.3%
Q3 – 99.0%
Q4 – 97.8%

The Trust has declared to the Healthcare Commission that it was compliant with all 24 core standards.

9.7 Review of Quality Performance for 2009 - 2010
9.7.1 Indicators of quality
Through a process of consultation with senior clinical staff a number of quality indicators were selected as
priorities for improvement in 2009 / 2010. In making the selection it was acknowledged that for some of the
indicators to deliver sustained improvement work would need to be ongoing beyond 2010.
The indicators are summarised in Table 5 overleaf.
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Table 5: Quality Indicators 2009/10
Domain

Indicator

Rationale for Inclusion

Indicator Owners

Data Source/
Collection

Safety

Physical Health Checks
for patients with a
length of stay > 6
months

• Reduction of health
inequalities
• Identification of those
at risk of physical
health difficulties.

Clinical Directors

Quarterly
Internal
Collection

Reduction of violence
and aggression
experienced by staff
and service users

• Staff survey reports
high levels of violence
and aggression
experienced by staff.
• Ensure a safe
environment for
patients.

Head of Nursing and Quarterly
Risk
Internal
Collection

Review of the number
and nature of
safeguarding referrals
made

Develop understanding of
the nature and extent of
safeguarding issues in the
organisation prior to
targeted intervention.

Deputy Director for
Service Delivery

Quarterly
Internal
Collection

Achieve at least Good
PEAT scores for
environment, food and
privacy and dignity

Ensuring a high quality
environment for patients

Facilities Manager

Annual PEAT
Inspection

Formalising regular
service user feedback
with regards to dignity
and respect

Support work to meet the Associate Director
expressed needs of service Care Governance
users to be treated with
dignity and respect

Quarterly
Internal
Collection

Undertake quality of life
audits with people with
learning disabilities and
older people

Support work to meet the
needs of service users to
be treated with dignity
and respect

Quarterly
Internal
Collection

Service
User
Experience

Clinical
Effectiveness
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Associate Director
Care Governance

95% of all new referrals Support the development Deputy Director for
have a HoNOS and
of the use of the Yorkshire Service Delivery
score by Q4.
Care Pathway

Quarterly
Internal
Collection

Ensure delayed
discharges are less than
7.5% across inpatient
services

Outstanding issue of
achievement against
Monitor compliance
framework

Executive Director
for Service Delivery

Quarterly
Internal
Collection

Maintain re-admission
rate below 5% at 28
days post discharge

Proxy measure of
functionality of
community services

Executive Director
for Service Delivery

Quarterly
Internal
Collection
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Below is a more detailed outline of the rationale and
the descriptors for these quality indicators. For a
number of the indicators the data is qualitative rather
than quantitative and there are also some indicators
that are developmental in nature and so no definitive
outcome can be presented in this report.
The indicators are broken down into three key areas of
safety, outcomes, experience.

9.7.2 Safe services
The reduction of violence and aggression is a
challenging agenda. The annual patient and staff
surveys have indicated that both the people who use
services and our staff do not always feel safe. A piece
of work has started during this year which has initially
focused on gathering information to inform
understanding of the issues.
A Quality Account ‘Think Tank’ group was set up to
consider the quality indicator for the reduction of
violence and aggression. Membership includes
practitioners with specialist knowledge and skills in this
area and representatives from the inpatient settings.
We know from previous data that these are the target
areas for this work. Key issues discussed by the group
have been:
• De-escalation skills to be reintegrated within MAPA
training. This has been agreed and will be
implemented in 2010
• Review of any national work on reducing violence
and aggression within mental health services.
Findings from the national work on violence and
aggression in mental health & learning disability,
highlighted environmental factors as the major
causation. These findings have informed the work
of the Think Tank. The focus for this coming year will
be on identifying what environmental factors can be
manipulated to achieve a greater sense of safety for
people who use services and for staff providing
them.
Safeguarding people with mental health difficulties and
learning disabilities who may be vulnerable is a
fundamental responsibility of the organisation. In
2009/10 work began to develop our understanding of
the significant safeguarding issues for the Trust so that
specific action can be targeted at developing robust
safeguarding referral systems.
The result has been a very significant increase in the
number of referrals made to both Children’s Services
and the Vulnerable Adults Protection Team, as shown
in Table 6.

Table 6: Referrals
2008

2009

Referrals to Children’s Services

13

60

Referrals of Vulnerable Adults

8

67

People with severe mental health difficulties will on
average die 10 years earlier than their peers. The
Trust has implemented a screening programme to
identify people at risk from cardio-vascular disease.
During 2009/10 this programme continued to be
supplemented by robust physical health checks for all
people who are inpatients for more than 6 months.
The monitoring of the data in relation to this shows a
high degree of compliance with this indicator (see
Table 8 on pages 106-107).

9.7.3 A Positive Experience
Being treated with dignity and respect is consistently
identified as a contributory factor in supporting
people to have a positive experience of services.
During 2009/10 work has been undertaken to
develop a way of gathering meaningful and objective
information about how people who use our services
are treated with dignity and respect. This work will
link with a programme of ongoing quality of life
audits which are conducted by an independent
organisation. For a significant part of the year 08/09
work was undertaken to develop quality of life audit
tools. The audits were then undertaken by people
who have used services.
The key themes for quality improvement from the
Quality of Life Audits carried out are as follows:

9.7.4 Learning Disability Service
• Variability in the availability of permanent staff
resulting in staff working with patients when they
do not know them well.
• Variable levels of activity or engagement
• Need for Communication Passports to be further
developed for patients on the unit.
• Need for an accessible complaints process.

9.7.5 Older Adults Service
• The general ward environment needs updating
• Shared rooms needs to be reviewed - 4 people
sharing a room does not promote privacy and
dignity
• A quiet area needs to be developed where patients
can relax on their own or with visitors.
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Feedback from these audits will be used to identify
areas for local quality improvements for the
forthcoming year.

9.9 An Effective Service

PEAT was established in 2000 to assess NHS hospitals
quality relating to the patient environment & food
and has been managed by the NPSA since 2006.
Under the programme every in-patient NHS facility in
England with more than ten beds must be assessed
annually and given a rating against a set of core
standards of excellent, good, acceptable, poor and
unacceptable. PEAT is a self assessment against the
set standards to demonstrate how well individual
healthcare organisations believe they are performing
in key areas including:

For services to be effective they need to be outcome
focused. People who use our services should have a
clear view of what to expect from a course of
treatment and to know that it is outcome focused
and evidence based. In support of this, the
organisation began work on adopting valid and
reliable outcome measures and using clearly defined
care pathways. The target was that by the year end
90% of all new cases seen would be allocated to a
care pathway. The result for the January 2010
allocation of pathways is 49%, representing an
increase on previous months. Until February 2010,
pathway allocation was live within working age adult
services only - the percentage reported above relates
to all new attendees i.e. those within working age
adult services and older adult services.

•
•
•
•

Therefore, currently a high percentage of allocation
has to be reached within working age adults to offset
the fact that no pathways are allocated within older
adult.

Since 2007, the Trust has made improvements in its
rating for environment and hospital food.

Work has now taken place in older adult services to
train their staff in pathway allocation, once pathway
allocation begins in those services there will be a
marked increase in percentage pathways allocated.

9.8 Patient Environment Action Team
(PEAT)

cleanliness
food
infection control
patient environment (including bathroom areas,
lighting, floors and patient areas)
• privacy and dignity (new category 2009).

Table 7 below compares results from 2006 to 2009
inclusive:

Table 7: PEAT Scores 2006-2009
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YEAR

Hospital

Environment

Food

Privacy & Dignity
(new category for 2009)

2009

Edward Street
Hallam Street
Heath Lane

Excellent
Good
Good

Excellent
Good
Excellent

Good
Good
Good

2008

Edward Street
Hallam Street
Heath Lane

Good
Good
Good

Excellent
Good
Excellent

Not included in
assessment
between 2006 -8

2007

Edward Street
Hallam Street
Heath Lane

Good
Good
Acceptable

Good
Good
Good

2006

Edward Street
Hallam Street
Heath Lane

Poor
Acceptable
Poor

Acceptable
Good
Poor
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More recently, work has been undertaken with the
final clinical group of staff yet to allocate pathways
(old age psychiatrists/out patients) and they have
begun to allocate pathways in February 2010.
The Q4 target for pathway allocation was reached.
More than 90% of new attendees in March were
allocated a pathway, which was reported to the
Strategic Health Authority at end April 2010.
As part of the pathway allocation new attendees
have a Health of the Nation Outcome Scales (HoNOS)
score completed.
The Trust has developed a robust system that
monitors the allocation of pathways within each
team/service area within the Trust.
Table 8 overleaf provides an analysis of performance
against quality indicators in 2009/10.
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Table 8: Quality Indicators 2009/10 - Performance

2.5 Quality Accounts
(position at Q4)

Targets
(as applicable)

April 09

May 09

June 09

July 09

Aug 09

Safety
Physical Health
(CQUIN scheme 1)

QA

Violence and aggression
(assaults on staff/patients)

QA

24

33

16

46

50

Keeping people safe
(vulnerable Adult referrals)

QA

3

7

6

12

6

48/48

100%

Service User Experience

PEAT

QA

Acceptable

Formalising service user
feedback

QA

Progressing as
expected

Quality of life audits
(CQUIN scheme 2)

QA

Progressing as
expected

Outcomes

106

HoNOS+ (number of new
referrals with score)

QA

95%

Delayed Discharges (Trust)
(cumulative)

QA

<7.5%

0%

6.3%

4.6%

5.7%

6.1%

6.2%
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Sept 09

Oct 09

Nov 09

12

Dec 09

Jan 09

Feb 09

9

Mar 09

YTD

6

100%

79

81

66

28

89

58

31

601

1

12

13

11

7

15

6

99

Acceptable Good
Progressing as Survey tool completed, pilot
expected to commence Q1 2010/11
Progressing as
expected 5

22%

41%

44%

6.3%

6.2%

6.0%

6.1%

5

10

49%

65%

95%

6.5%

6.7%

7.0%

20

7.0%
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9.10 Annex
9.10.1 Statement by the Scrutiny
Management Board
The Scrutiny Management Board (SMB) welcomes the
first Quality Report of the Trust. Insofar as the work
undertaken by Scrutiny and other report
endorsements on its accuracy by the PCT, the Quality
Report appears, on the whole, to reflect the work of
the Trust. SMB also welcomes the ongoing work of
quality of life audits by the organisation, ‘Changing
Our Lives’ and would like to see the actions
undertaken on any recommendations resulting from
this work reflected in future Quality Reports.
However, SMB would like to raise the quality of the
following areas as needing to be considered in future
Quality Reports:
• The Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service.
• Access to mental health service by BME groups,
refugees, asylum seekers, Gypsies and Travellers.
SMB also endorses the Trust’s proposal to ensure the
Quality Reports was rewritten in a more user friendly
format for its membership and wider public.

9.10.2 Statement by Sandwell Primary Care
Trust
Sandwell Primary Care Trust has agreed that the
content is a true representation of the performance
of the Trust as far as we are aware.
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